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REPORT ON OPERATIONS  

OF THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 
 

• THE GROUP STRUCTURE 

 
The chart below shows the consolidation scope as at 31.12.2023: the Parent Company Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A. is 
95.3% controlled by P&R Farmaceutici S.p.A. 
The Polish company entered the scope of consolidation as of 2023, while the British company, being non-operational, 
is not consolidated. 
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• OPERATIONS AND MARKETS 

 
The Parent Company and its subsidiaries manufacture and distribute drugs, vaccines, medical devices and APIs (Active 
Pharmaceutical Ingredients). Reference should be made to the section of this report entitled “Overview of the Group’s 
operations, financial trend and cash flows” for a discussion of the relevant therapeutic areas.  
 
Fidia boasts leadership in the hyaluronic acid (HA) market with a product portfolio in 5 therapeutic areas (Joint Care, 
Skin Care, Eye Care, Aesthetic Care, Regenerative Care) and with over 1250 patents developed in over 60 years of 
experience. 
 
The past financial year was characterised by a fluctuating sales trend, with the first half of the year in which growth was 
particularly positive, especially in the domestic market (Italy), while the middle part of the year saw a sales dynamic in 
line with the previous year, and from September onwards, sales returned to double-digit growth with a recovery in the 
international markets as well. The following graph shows the seasonality of the business compared to the previous year: 
 
Seasonality of turnover 

 

 
 
 
The 2023 financial year is characterised by double-digit sales growth (+12.5% at current exchange rates and +13% at 
constant exchange rates) in both the national and international markets. The breakdown of revenues is as follows: 
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Italian market 

 
Generally speaking, 2023 saw the Italian pharmaceutical market still conditioned by product availability issues usually 
linked to dynamics in the distribution circuit or, in other cases, the unavailability of raw materials (active ingredients) 
from Asian countries. 
Even for the Fidia Group, despite the improvement in the situation compared to the previous year, there was a shortage 
of some products in particular in the osteoarticular (joint care) and primary care areas due to causes attributable to 
some suppliers. 
Notwithstanding the above, Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A. recorded excellent performance in the Italian market in 2023, 
achieving a turnover of €234.8 million, up by +11.4% over the previous year and well above the reference market.  
With reference to market data for ethical products, the increase in sales in Italy of Fidia-branded products was +14.7%, 
in a market registering -0.1%.  
In the OTC, Medical Devices, Supplements and Cosmetics markets, with the marketing and sales activities 
implemented, Fidia performed particularly well with its Connettivina, Hyalogin and Cartijoint1 branded products. The 
Connettivina brand, which celebrated its 60th anniversary, reached 5 million units sold in the year. 
Another brand that distinguished itself by very positive results was Nodigap, the second brand in the vitamin D market, 
a drug with a growth of 19.6% and a P.P. turnover of €17 million (1). 
In the Italian HA market, the company maintains and consolidates its growth for osteoarticular infiltration, surpassing 
€42 million (compared to €40 million in 2022), a result that could have been more significant in the absence of the 
critical issues related to the lack of the products mentioned above. 
On the national scene, the Fidia proposal in regenerative medicine is arousing increasing interest with the 
establishment of products such as Hy Tissue PRP, Hy Tissue SVF, Hy Tissue Nanofat, enriched in 2023 with the launch 
of the Micrograft product. 
The year 2023 also closed with a further consolidation of Fidia leadership in the national and international ophthalmic 
market, with a turnover for the Eye Care line of €93 million, up +18.7% over the previous year. The substantial growth 
can be attributed to positive performance of both the ethical portfolio (Band A and Band C drugs) and the commercial 
portfolio (2).  
The commercial segment of Ophthalmologicals (tear substitutes medical devices and food supplements), is the one 
registering the most significant growth for Fidia in the Pharmacy channel, again ranking first in terms of turnover, 
registering a trend of +5.5% over 2022 and a market share of 9%. 
Finally, it is worth highlighting the results obtained with the marketing and promotion activities, thanks to which it has 
been possible to obtain important recognitions of the FIDIA brand in some national level events such as "AboutPharma 
Digital Awards" with the "Future is Now!" project dedicated to young nurses and "Patient Engagement Award" with 
the educational project "Let's Trust the Heart", creating innovative communication paths recognised by the juries of 
these important contests in the medical and patient communication fields. 
  

 [source IMF IQVIA MAT Dec 2023] 

2 [source Macro Scenario Pharmacy New Line MAT Dec 2023] 
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International markets 

 
The Group achieved a turnover of €219.4 million abroad, 13.3% higher than the previous year's result, and consolidated 
a double-digit growth trend in both subsidiaries and third-party distributors, despite some disturbances in the main 
markets. 
This positive result was achieved thanks to the very positive performance of product sales in Europe, emerging markets 
and sales of CMO (Contract Manufacturing Operation) and API (Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient) products, which 
absorbed the below-expected performance of the US, caused by a change in reimbursement mechanisms that heavily 
affected the subsidiary's performance in the first six months of the year. 
Europe contributed with an overall growth of +12% to which all branches contributed equally, the Middle East and 
North Africa area contributed with a growth of +37% despite the crisis in the Egyptian market due to a deep financial 
crisis that limited the willingness of the local banking system to guarantee credits; the turnover in various geographic 
areas also showed a trend of +37% compared to the previous year. The performance recorded in these regions more 
than offset the reduction in sales recorded in the US market (-6.5% year-on-year) due to a regulatory change in the US 
market that impacted the reimbursement mechanism for some products, negatively affecting sales performance. 
The year 2023 was a year of profound transformation of the organisational model and key management processes to 
support positive growth through better exploitation of the product portfolio, more effective utilisation of investments 
and a direct presence in key pharmaceutical markets.  
Significant initiatives include the digital transformation project that actively involves all the subsidiaries in the 
construction of a global CRM platform, the modernisation of the Demand process, and the strengthening of 
management teams with the hiring of high-potential profiles and the enhancement of talent present at Fidia. 
The development of direct presence in the main international pharmaceutical markets includes the transformation of 
the business model in Austria, Russia and Romania and the opening of the subsidiary in Poland, a market that ranks 
among the top 5 in Europe and has high development potential.  
 
All therapeutic areas contributed to sales growth in 2023 through an increased penetration in direct markets achieved 
by our subsidiaries and the expansion into new markets achieved through new partnerships with distributors. 
Noteworthy, among the initiatives undertaken to support commercial development in the main markets, is the launch 
of the Skin Care line in the United States, with an initial phase focused on Veteran Association hospitals on the East 
Coast and then continuing with an expansion to the rest of the United States, and the launch of the Eye Care line in 
Poland. 
 
 
 

• SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
Corporate events 
 
January 2023 saw the completion of the acquisition from the Unipharm group of the business unit of some products for 
the Eye Care line and vitamin D supplements. The acquisition took place through the newly established Fidia Pharma 
Polska sp. z o.o., which thus assumed the function of developing the Polish market, in line with the strategy of 
geographic expansion in Europe and in particular, in a country such as Poland, with a high potential for economic 
growth.  
In March 2023, the Parent Company's Board of Directors authorised the signing of a loan agreement with a major US 
pension institution, with the aim of allowing the company to provide a credit line of USD 150 million with amortisation 
foreseen up to a maximum of 10.5 years, an amount that will be used to finance forthcoming acquisition transactions 
currently being assessed. The line can be used indifferently in USD or Euro, for a period of 3 years (expires 15 March 
2026) and provides for the issuance of bonds for minimum amounts of 10 million (in Euro or Dollar currency) at a fixed 
rate determined at market conditions set at the time the line is drawn. As at 31 December 2023, the line was utilised 
for an amount of €20 million, as better detailed in the notes to the financial statements. The debt covenants are in line 
with those defined with the banking system. Reference to the financial statements for further details should be made. 
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New business acquisition 
 
During 2023, the transfer of products acquired in 2021 from third parties continued. At year-end, about 60% of the 
Marketing Authorisations for the 63 references in the 14 different countries had been distributed. At the same time, as 
per the plan, technology transfer initiatives are underway for the business in question, aimed at internalising part of the 
production and aimed at increasing margins on the sale of industrialised finished products. In particular, in the Abano 
Terme plant, investments are underway to build a production line in the oral solids department, while the line for the 
production of topicals for cosmetic use in the Paderno Dugnano plant is already operational. In the balance sheet as at 
31 December 2023, values of €3.7 million are entered under intangible assets in progress and €4.0 million under 
tangible assets. Reference to the financial statements for further details should be made. 
 
Evolution of major research projects 
  
Developments continued in the Oncofid-P projects for the treatment of bladder cancer and mesothelioma, the 
Collagenase project for the treatment of Dupuytren's contracture and Peyronie's disease, and the HyCar project for 
the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. With reference to the first project (Oncofid) already in phase 
3, €8.5 million were capitalised under assets under construction. For the Oncofid-P project in pleural mesothelioma, 
the company obtained Orphan Drug designation from the European Medicines Agency (EMA), providing 
recommendations for the molecule's preclinical and clinical development plan. 
 
Patent Box ruling 
   
The renewal of the ruling for the 2020-2024 five-year period for intangible assets subject to the facilitation as per L. 
190 23/12/2014 has not yet been finalised with the regional revenue agency with which the contradictory phases are 
underway. Pending finalisation of the agreement, it was not possible to estimate the tax benefit, which, therefore, has 
not yet been budgeted. 
Decree-Law No. 146 of 21 October 2021, converted, with amendments, by law No. 215 of 17 December 2021, as 
subsequently amended by Law No. 234 of 30 December 2021, introduced an optional tax regime (hereinafter referred 
to as the “new patent box”) for business income holders that provides for a super-deduction, for IRES and IRAP 
purposes, equal to 110% of the research and development costs incurred in relation to software protected by copyright, 
industrial patents, designs and models used directly or indirectly in the performance of their business activities. The 
Provision of the Director of the Revenue Agency of 15 February 2022 subsequently defined the implementing 
provisions and the ways for exercising the option (ref. circular AdE 5/E/2023). This option is valid for five years and is 
irrevocable and renewable. 
During the financial year, a reporting activity was initiated in compliance with the legal provisions relating to the new 
patent box, which resulted in a recovery of the higher taxes paid during the 2022 financial the year in the amount of 
€2,188 thousand recorded under contingent assets in the income statement. 
 
Introduction of medical device payback regulations 
  
The payback on medical devices was introduced by Art. 9-ter of the D.L. of 19 June 2015 No.78 converted into Law 
125/2015. During 2022, the implementing decrees were issued with the publication, in the O.J. on 15/09/2022, of the 
decree of the Ministry of Health and the Mef certifying the exceeding of the expenditure ceiling for medical devices for 
the years 2015-2018. Following this decree, the regions issued the relevant measures with which the supplier 
companies were notified of the amounts to be paid for the expenditure overruns, for the years 2015-2018. The Parent 
Company challenged the measure, on the basis of an initiative coordinated by several companies in the sector, by 
appealing to the regional court (TAR) of Lazio. 
With DL 34/2023, the government introduced a 52% rebate on the 2015-2018 overrun to be borne by companies on 
condition that they waive litigation, and in addition, the request to deduct VAT from the contribution calculation was 
accepted. 
In addition, with various decrees, the government extended the terms for the "facilitated" payback until 30 November 
2023 (DL 1321/2023); on 24 November 2023, the Regional Administrative Court of Lazio issued its order referring 
the questions of constitutional legitimacy of the payback legislation to the Constitutional Court, noting that "the 
legislative choices could be unreasonable in many respects". In light of this decision of the Supreme Court, the parent 
company decided not to meet the deadline for payment. For this reason, a provision for risks has been set aside in the 
balance sheet to cover the possible unfavourable outcome of ongoing litigation at national level. Reference is made to 
the financial statements for more details. 
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Operating activities 
 
The Parent Company, Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A., with registered office in Abano Terme (PD), carries out its operations 
at 4 operating facilities: Abano Terme (PD)- Via Ponte della Fabbrica 3/A, Noto (SR)- Contrada Pizzuta, Paderno 
Dugnano (MI) - Via Ampère 19/21 and Monte Giberto (FM) - Via del Lavoro, 2/4 During 2023, the new institutional 
headquarters in Milan, Via Vegezio, 17, was also opened. 
 
Abano Terme plant  
 
The Abano Terme (PD) plant covers an area of 215,000 m² and produces both APIs (mainly hyaluronic acid) and finished 
products in various pharmaceutical forms (injectable and sterile lyophilised, solid oral, topical, etc.). In particular, the 
following are produced: pre-filled bottles, vials and syringes, multi-dose and single-dose eye drops, topical products 
(creams, gels, ointments and wet gauze), oral solids (tablets and capsules), active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) 
obtained from tissues and by fermentation, and finally, the facility produces lyophilised vaccines for third parties. 
During the financial year, the following were achieved: 
 

• completion of the revision of the DVR (risk assessment document) with inclusion of the assessment of work-
related stress, successful completion of the periodic ISO 14001 inspection and integrated environmental 
inspection by ARPAV; 

• renewal of AIFA certification following inspection by the regulatory body; 
• consolidation of production of all pharmaceutical forms, with some significant increases in the production of 

sterile vials for the client GSK; 
• completion of work on the new production line for the isosthenia vaccine department and the construction of 

a department for topical corticosteroid products; 
• conclusion of the transfer of a new non-steroidal anti-inflammatory product in oral form. 

 
Paderno Dugnano plant  
 
The 7,500 m² plant in Paderno Dugnano (MI) produces oral and cutaneous drug delivery systems (skin patches, 
medicated patches, rapid cooling hydrogels, oral dissolvable films). 
The site also has gauze filling lines, liquids (solutions, foams and sprays) and topical products (cosmetic creams and 
ointments) 
The plant is authorised by AIFA and holds GMP certification, while the quality system is certified ISO 9001, ISO 22716 
AND ISO 13485. The facility is also authorised for the production of food supplements in solid form. 
During the financial year, the following were achieved: 
 

• increased production of the main pharmaceutical forms, medicated plasters and medical devices disinfectant 
wipes; 

• completion of the doubling of areas dedicated to pharmaceutical production and the warehouse; 
• insertion of a line for the production of tubes of cosmetic creams and ointments. 

 
Noto plant  
 
The plant includes a production plant and a research laboratory covering an area of 6,000 m². 
The Noto plant produces Collagenase solution for topical use and Collagenase solution for injection use for the clincal 
studies in progress.  
The facility specialises in studying the production processes of new enzymes, proteins and polysaccharides by 
fermentation or through biotechnological processes, using non-pathogenic strains. 
The site has been authorised by AIFA since 2013 for the production of active ingredients; last AIFA inspection carried 
out on 27-29 March 2023 with consequent renewal of the GMP Authorisation for the production of active substances 
(Authorisation no. API - 80/2023 of 14/07/2023). 
A new department for bulk freeze-drying for collagenase active pharmaceutical ingredient was completed in 2023. In 
the first quarter of 2024, once the validations have been completed, authorisation will be requested from AIFA for the 
new department. 
During the financial year, the following were achieved: 
 

• updating the emergency plan and risk assessment; 
• implementation of the new local area network and cabling of the entire plant.  
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Monte Giberto plant  
 
The plant in Monte Giberto (FM) produces medical devices (sterile gauze for periocular cleansing) and performs 
primary and secondary packaging of food supplements (tablets and soft capsules). 
The building has a capacity of 1,800 pallets, where drugs, medical devices and food supplements are stored for later 
distribution. 
The plant is authorised for the wholesale distribution of medicinal products for human use, pursuant to Articles 100 
and 108 of Legislative Decree No. 219/2006 and subsequent amendments and supplements. 
 
During the financial year, the following were achieved: 
 

• increase in the production volumes on the Medical Devices and Food Supplements lines and introduction of 
new references; 

• completion of the qualification activities of the new production area, the new analysis laboratory and the newly 
installed equipment; 

• adaptation of the sewage system and the adaptation of the fire-fighting system. 
 
 
 

• OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP’S OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL TREND AND CASH FLOWS  

  
Consolidated net revenues 
 
Consolidated net revenues came to €463,502 thousand in 2023, a growth of some 12.5% over 2022. 
Net revenues include revenues from the sale of products and services for €454,199 thousand and other revenues for 
€9,303 thousand mainly referring to miscellaneous income, indemnities and tax credits. 
Revenues from products and services broken down by geographical macro-area are shown below: 
 
Consolidated revenues by geographical area 
 

 
 
Growth at current exchange rates was negatively affected by exchange rate dynamics (for €2,199 thousand) mainly 
related to the Rouble and US dollar currencies, net of which growth would have been 13%. 
 
Net revenues by therapeutic area are set out below: 
 
Consolidated revenues by therapeutic area 
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The various therapeutic areas all showed significant increases over the previous year, in particular the Eye Care area 
(+18.7%) and Regenerative Care (+24%) driven, the former by the Italian market and the latter, thanks to the start of 
distribution in the American market. Joint Care continues to be the main therapeutic area whose weight in the total 
rose from 38% to 35% with a growth of 4.4% slowed by the dynamics of reimbursement rules in the US market. The 
item "Other" mainly includes sales of vaccines and API in CMO. 
 
Key consolidated income statement figures 
 

 
  
Detail of operating and personnel costs 
 

 
 
Key consolidated balance sheet figures 
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Breakdown of net financial position 

 

 
 
Breakdown of working capital 
 

 
 
Key consolidated financial statement ratios 
 

 
 
Note: for a description of the indices, see page 13 

 
Condensed consolidated cash flow statement 
 

 
 
(1) Profit for the year net of depreciation, amortisation and write-downs, provisions, financial expenses (income), taxes and disposal of fixed assets 
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• OVERVIEW OF THE PARENT COMPANY’S OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND CASH FLOWS 

 
The data below refer to the financial statements data of the Parent Company Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A. according to the 
national accounting OIC standards.   
 
Revenues by type 
   

 
 
Revenues by geographical area 
 

 
 
Key income statement figures 
    

 
 
Key balance sheet figures 
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Breakdown of net financial position 
  

 
 
Breakdown of working capital 
 
   

 
 
Main financial statement ratios 
   

 
 

 
(1)

 “Return on Sales” (ROS) is the ratio of operating profit (loss) to revenues.  
(2)

 “Return on Investment” (ROI) is the ratio of operating profit (loss) to Net Invested Capital. 
(3)

 “Return on Equity” (ROE) is the ratio of net profit (loss) for the financial year to shareholders’ equity. 
(4)

 Inventory turnover is the ratio of (i) purchases of raw materials, consumables and goods and changes in inventory, to (ii) the average closing 
inventory of the previous financial year and the closing inventory at the reporting date. This ratio is multiplied by 365.  

(5)
 DSO is calculated as the ratio of (i) average trade receivables at the end of the previous financial year and trade receivables at the reporting date, 

to (ii) revenues. This ratio is multiplied by 365. 
(6)

 DPO is calculated as the ratio of (i) average trade payables at the previous financial year end and trade payables at the reporting date, to (ii) the 
sum of purchases of raw materials, consumables and goods plus changes in inventory plus services.  

(7)
 The Tax Rate is the ratio of income taxes to pre-tax profit (loss). 

(8)
 “Leverage” is calculated as the ratio between (i) Net Financial Position and (ii) EBITDA. 
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Condensed cash flow statement 

 

 
 
(1) Profit for the year net of depreciation, amortisation and write-downs, provisions, financial expenses (income), taxes and disposal of fixed assets 
 
 
 

• HUMAN RESOURCES AND WORKFORCE 
 

In 2023, initiatives aimed at organisational change continued at a global level with particular attention to corporate 
values and the topics of diversity, equity and inclusion and to the consolidation of the Group's international vocation 
through the harmonisation of numerous processes and the development of systems. 
 
Recruitment, training and development 
 
A first choice in line with the path taken so far by the management was to change the name from Human Resources to 
People & Culture. 
 
A total of 194 people were hired across the Abano Terme, Noto, Paderno Dugnano, Monte Giberto sites and at the 
Milan Unit. 
At Abano Terme, 171 new people (3 Managers, 11 middle managers, 98 white collars and 59 blue collars) were hired 
during the year, while 122 people resigned, some of whom retired.  
The induction of the new hires involved all corporate areas. 
At Fidia’s international facilities, 125 people were hired (86 in Europe and 39 in the rest of the world). 
 
The development of Fidia's human capital continued with actions aimed at the entire corporate population. 
In order to continue working on the development of people managers, an advanced training course was completed with 
the aim of providing the necessary skills to manage the entire life cycle of employees within the company more 
effectively. The course has been divided into 5 modules of 2 hours each (labour relations management, selection and 
recruitment, performance measurement, meritocratic policies and personnel budgeting) to which a further module on 
coaching will be added in 2024; the programme will then be offered to all managers of people working in foreign 
branches.  
 
Coaching sessions run by internal coaches continued during the year for 66 colleagues who requested them, and the 
pathway to ICF certification was started for interested colleagues; the training of internal coaches in English was also 
started with the participation of 12 colleagues from 3 countries. 
 
As part of the profound change management project underway, initiatives continued involving the entire company 
population, both in Italy and abroad, and aimed at creating the new Fidia Organisational Culture, which began with a 
discussion on psychological safety after the return of the survey carried out by all teams and then by workshops aimed 
at all employees with a further in-depth study for managers that saw the participation of over 80% of the company 
population.  
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The process of harmonising the payroll system in all countries outside Italy in which Fidia is present has been completed 
with the aim of improving the control and approval processes and creating the conditions for a unitary system for 
monitoring labour costs and budgeting; an auditing process was also started on the pay roll and on the processes that 
concern the management of people with a standardised approach that will be replicated in the coming years with 
defined periodicities in all branches around the world. 
 
The year 2023 ended with the audit for the UNI/PDR 125:22 certification without any nonconformities and with a 
flattering score of 78/100, which represents a concrete and challenging commitment for the Company to improve and 
maintain it for the following years as well. 
 
The growth trend of the Group’s resources over the last years is as follows: 
 
Group workforce trend 
 
 

 
 
 

Fidia group’s workforce by gender and average age 
 

 
 
 
The average age remained constant, as did the gender breakdown compared to last year. 
 
Industrial relations 
 
Also 2023 was characterised by a positive trend in industrial relations characterised by frequent meetings that made it 
possible to finalise agreements aimed at providing timely responses to the needs that emerged. 
 
During the year, some meetings were held to share the state of the art of the cultural change process that is involving 
the entire company population and the processes managed by People & Culture aimed at the development of all 
workers were also explored in depth. 
 
2023 ended without a single new labour litigation case. 
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• ENVIRONMENT 

 
The Fidia Farmaceutici Group strives to constantly reduce the negative effects of its activities on the environment, 
trying to find technological solutions that cause the lowest environmental impact and it has a specific Health, Safety 
and Environment Policy. In addition, since 2019, it has joined the voluntary “Responsible Care” program for the 
sustainable development of the Chemical Industry. 
 
All production sites are periodically audited by the Supervisory Body (SB), established pursuant to Legislative Decree 
No. 231/01. 
On the subject of waste, the group's production units annually draw up the Single Environmental Declaration Form 
(MUD), which indicates the quantity and type of waste produced and/or managed during the year in question. For the 
transport of dangerous goods, pursuant to Legislative Decree 35/2010, where applicable, the ADR (Accord 
Dangereuses Route, i.e. the European Agreement concerning the International Carriage of Dangerous Goods by Road) 
report is drawn up annually by a specially authorised technician.  
Periodic, ordinary and extraordinary maintenance is carried out promptly for all systems, according to planning, so as 
to guarantee the highest levels of efficiency and the minimisation of consumption. 
Fidia HQ, certified in accordance with the standard ISO 14001, has an Integrated Environmental Authorisation 
(Autorizzazione Integrata Ambientale - A.I.A.) and provides an annual report in compliance with the current legislative 
requirements imposed with the A.I.A. authorisation, as well as other specific documentation which contributes to 
maintaining a system of monitoring and control of consumption and emissions. In accordance with Article 5 of 
Regulation (EC) No. 166/2006, it submits the PRTR (Pollutant Release and Transfer Register) declaration. 
 
Energy and fuel consumption 
 
The fuels used in the Italian plants are of two types: natural gas, used to guarantee the operation of the steam 
generators serving production and space heating at the Abano Terme, Paderno Dugnano and Monte Giberto facilities, 
the trigenerative co-generator at the Abano Terme facility, and the thermal co-generators for the abatement of 
gaseous emissions at the Abano Terme and Paderno Dugnano facilities; diesel fuel to guarantee the operation of the 
steam generators serving production and space heating at the Noto facility and to maintain the functionality of the 
emergency generators and motor pumps serving the water storage tanks for the fire-fighting system at all facilities. The 
group also consumes fuel (LPG, petrol and diesel) for group vehicles, which are mainly used by the external sales force 
network. 
The facility’s energy consumption is mainly related to the production plants, lighting and air conditioning of the 
workplaces. 
 
The following tables summarise the direct and indirect energy consumption and energy intensity of the 4 production 
sites, calculated in an aggregate manner in accordance with GRI 302-1 and 302-3 standards, by comparing them with 
the previous year's data. 
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Emissions 
 
The following tables set out the aggregate emissions of the 4 production sites calculated in metric tonnes of CO2 
equivalent, including direct and indirect emissions and the emission intensity calculated in accordance with GRI 305-1, 
305-2 and 305-4, compared with the data of the previous year. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
The total CO2 emissions, compared to the year 2022, increased by about 1,200 t. The main reason for this increase is 
to be found in the heavy investments in production that the group has implemented in the various sites, in particular in 
Abano Terme, where the validation activities of the new lyophilised vaccine production department, the new 
corticosteroid topicals department and the department dedicated to the filtration of the active ingredient have started, 
in Noto, where a new production department has come into operation, and in Paderno Dugnano, where a new 
production line for topical creams has come into operation, which has allowed the site's pharmaceutical production to 
triple. The emission intensity indices per unit of surface area and per number of employees, consequently, are slightly 
increasing. 
It should be noted that the table does not include the trigenerative function of the co-generator installed at the Abano 
Terme facility, the absence of which would result in the boilers using more gas and more energy needed for summer 
cooling. It was calculated that, in the absence of the trigenerator, CO2 production would have been around 150 t higher. 

 

Improvement activities 
 
At the Abano Terme site, an in-depth study has begun to optimise the emissions channelled from the active ingredient 
production departments in order to improve atmospheric emissions, and a plant modification has been implemented 
that allows rainwater runoff from the storage tanks to be collected in dedicated tanks, instead of being channelled into 
the liquid waste collection tanks as was previously the case, effectively reducing the amount of liquid waste disposed 
of. In addition, the retrofitting of equipment containing R22 refrigerant gas to reduce the presence of greenhouse gases 
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and ozone-depleting substances continued, and the external paving was restored in several places to protect the soil 
and surface and groundwater. 
 
At the Paderno Dugnano site, a by-pass has been installed at the inlet of the thermal burner serving the pharmaceutical 
departments for water-based coating activities. This made it possible to improve the management of atmospheric 
emissions and to optimise the supply of natural gas. 
 
At the Noto site, the campaign to replace existing lighting sources with energy-efficient LED lamps continues. 
 
At the Monte Giberto site, the implementation of a documentary and procedural adjustment system aimed at obtaining 
ISO 14001 certification for the environmental management system was initiated. In addition, an energy analysis was 
started in order to verify the current situation of the local unit and highlight possible areas for improvement. 
 
Water consumption 
 
The Fidia group implements a rational and responsible use of water resources at all its facilities. For each production 
facility, water mostly comes from the public aqueduct, only one facility has a well.  
 
In view of the fact that freshwater withdrawals are attributable to both sanitary and industrial use, responsible 
management of the resource includes a careful process design and consumption monitoring in order to identify areas 
for improvement and intercept possible leaks at an early stage. 
 
In order to safeguard water resources, at the Fidia facility in Abano, which accounts for about 98% of the consumption 
of all facilities, in 2023, about 11,300 cubic metres of purified water were reused for cooling the evaporative towers, 
about 5% of the water purchased from the aqueduct network. 
 
In 2023, the Group's total water withdrawal was approx. 236,700 cubic metres, compared to the 186,447 cubic metres 
consumed in 2022. The increase of approximately 50,000 m3 compared to the previous year, corresponding to +27%, 
is mainly due to the 29% production increase, in terms of batches produced, achieved at the Abano HQ. 
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• OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 

 
Our working environment encourages collaboration and inclusion. The health and physical and mental well-being of 
workers at Fidia is a central topic, a key priority and key to development. 
 
All Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A. sites pursue the same values expressed in the Group's Health, Safety and Environment 
Policy. 
 
Specifically, Fidia is committed to achieving the following internal and external goals: 
 

- disseminating Fidia’s vision and values, such as the importance of human capital, responsible partnerships, high 
quality, strong technological expertise, ongoing investments in research and development, as well as customer 
satisfaction; 

- contributing to sustainable development by acting responsibly in the areas of environmental, safety, health and 
social impact; 

- pursuing ongoing improvement in employee health and safety through prevention, the assessment of risks and 
their elimination or reduction; 

- promoting and disseminating a health and safety culture among employees and the importance of compliance 
with regulations, through continuous example and the systematic control of all major aspects; 

- demonstrating senior management’s deep commitment to this issue. 
 

Each employee is required to pay close attention in carrying out their duties, stringently complying with all safety and 
prevention measures, in order to avoid any risks to themselves and their co-workers, thereby minimising the risk of 
occupational injuries and diseases. In order to protect health and safety, Fidia provides its employees with suitable and 
properly maintained work equipment and methods, as well as the collective and personal protective equipment made 
available by the technical and scientific progress. 
 
As a corollary of the quality of the working environment, the company is strongly committed to preventing accidents, 
to guarantee the timely identification, resolution or mitigation of problems with repercussions on health and safety, a 
reporting process is active at the Fidia offices, as well as analysis of causes and implementation of corrective actions for 
accidents, injuries and near misses or near misses.  
 
At the various production sites and at the Milan Unit, institutional headquarters consisting of offices where staff have 
been placed since 1 October 2023, at least once a year, as required by current national legislation: 
 
▪ the company doctor performs a general inspection accompanied by the prevention and protection officer, and 

updates the health protocol; 
▪ the members of the corporate prevention system (the employer, officers, employees’ safety representatives, the 

company doctor and the prevention and protection officer) attend the periodic meeting required by Legislative 
Decree 81/2008. 
 

Training 
 
The Fidia Group is committed to promoting health and safety by implementing appropriate measures and positive 
actions that enable its employees to acquire healthy and safe behaviour in all work environments.  
The culture of safety at work is a company organisational principle built by paying great attention to the information, 
education and training of all workers in order to make personnel work with awareness in a healthy environment, 
protected from the dangers present in the workplace.  
At all sites there are training programs in place that, starting from the needs of workers and in compliance with legal 
requirements, provide appropriate interventions monitored over time both for adherence of learners and for 
effectiveness.  
In 2023, new hires were trained in accordance with the State-Regions Agreement, refresher courses for specific 
training as required every five years were provided, as well as role-related training. RLS (Workers' Safety 
Representatives), Supervisors and Safety Managers were trained. 
For those who use cars, both for the Abano site and the Local Units, an e-learning training course on driving risks has 
been designed and delivered to assimilate and improve good driving practices, understanding of the safety systems in 
the vehicle, and with a specific technical module on the effects of alcohol, drugs and current work regulations. 
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Safety supervision at the production facilities 

 
Each local unit has workers’ safety representatives authorised pursuant to Legislative Decree 81/08. 
 
Injuries and accidents 
 
During the 2023 financial year, neither deaths nor cases of occupational disease were recorded at any of the Group’s 
facilities.  
The following tables show the aggregate data of the injuries that occurred and the injury ratios processed with 
reference to the personnel of the Fidia Abano Terme (PD), Paderno Dugnano (MI), Milan (MI), Noto (SR) and Monte 
Giberto (FM) facilities. 
Compared with the previous year, the number of accidents increased both during working hours and commuting: during 
working hours the increase was +3 adverse events (from 8 to 11), commuting there was +1 (from 3 to 4).  
Due to the higher number of accidents, the total frequency index increased from 6.087 to 8.047; however, the total 
severity index, which was calculated by also counting the days of prognosis of the accidents that occurred in 2022 with 
continuation in 2023, decreased from 0.234 to 0.183, showing that the accidents that occurred were characterised by 
a low number of days of absence. 
 

 
 

 
 
* also taking into account the days of prognosis of accidents occurring in 2022 with continuation in 2023 
 
Improvement activities 
 
In 2023, demonstrating the constant commitment of the Group, numerous interventions were completed and 
numerous investments were authorised, in order to improve the health and safety level of employees. 
By way of example, the most significant events are listed below. 
At the Abano site: the new Vaccines production department was completed and the certificate of compliance with fire 
prevention and fire safety requirements was obtained for the new Vaccines production department; a new area for the 
production of topical forms was created inside the dedicated building and a new product isolation area in the active 
ingredient production department; the Research and Development laboratories were partially renovated; finally, the 
escape and rescue signs were improved throughout the plant. 
At the Paderno site, a number of ergonomic improvements have been made (introduction of mechanical aids for 
handling reels in the warehouse area and within the departments, for the packaging department, where activity for 
prolonged periods while seated is required, introduction of new models of chairs to ensure correct posture). Following 
the extension of the local unit, an application was submitted to the Fire Brigade to update the Fire Prevention 
Certificate. 
At the Noto and Monte Giberto sites, the main focus of the improvements was on technical-organisational aspects, 
particularly for Noto with the updating of risk assessments and the company's Emergency Plan, and for Monte Giberto 
with targeted awareness-raising activities for staff aimed at promoting the reporting of accidents, injuries and near 
misses as an effective prevention tool.  
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• RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

 
The Fidia Group invests about 6% of its turnover into research and development. A total of €26.2 million was invested 
in 2023, including personnel and operating costs. 
 
Discovery 
 
At its laboratories in Abano Terme in 2023, the Discovery group focused its activities mainly on the development of 
processes and technologies based on hyaluronic acid (HA) and its derivatives, as well as on their chemical-physical and 
biological characterisation, with a focus on traditional business areas.  In detail, the operation can be summarised as 
follows: 
 

• completion of the CMC (Chemistry Manufacturing & Control) package and product supply chain management 
for the clinical trial of an ongoing oncology project; 

• projects for the joint care area: development and analytical support for the HA-carnosine project; in vivo 
efficacy and tolerability studies of drug candidates forosteoarthritis therapy; scale-up and completion of 
analytical development of solutions for post-surgical analgesia; 

• development of HA formulations and derivatives in ophthalmology and their characterisation; 
• development and chemical-physical and biological characterisation of HA-based scaffolds and derivatives for 

regenerative medicine;  
• development of new cross-linking technologies in aesthetic medicine; 
• modifications to industrial processes for the purpose of replacing traditional solvents with green solvents (as 

they are not subject to environmental authority authorisations). 
 

Finally, the Analytical Methods Development and Cellular Biology laboratories, in addition to following the internal 
projects of the Discovery group, have given increasing support in the analytical and biological characterisation of the 
products under development in the entire Fidia R&D and in the external units, as well as in the gap analysis of products 
acquired or already on the market in terms of specifications and methods of analysis. 
 
Pre-Clinical Development 
 

The Pre-Clinical Development department, in addition to managing in vitro and in vivo trials for some experimental 
products under development (drugs and medical devices), dedicated in 2023 a strong commitment in adjusting the pre-
clinical documentation, necessary for the renewal of the CE marking in the delicate phase of transition from Directive 
93/42 EC to the New European Regulation 745/2017, for all Medical Devices already on the market in all the various 
therapeutic areas where Fidia operates. The team also worked actively on the development of new products.  
In 2023, the collaboration with UniMI started in 2022 to define the mechanism of action of a new drug was continued. 
The activity includes the complete pharmaco-toxicological characterisation of the new molecule as part of the 
"Agreements for Innovation" funded project. 
 
Formulation Development 
 
In relation to the Formulation Development Team, the main activities in 2024 concerned: 
 

• Speciality Care Area: completion of development activities for a new medical device and the tech-transfer of 
a commercial medical device to a new manufacturer. 

• Skin Care Area: completion of the development of 6 new cosmetic references for the complementary 
treatment of dermatological pathologies; activation of development activities for the conversion of 2 medical 
devices into cosmetics; activation of the study of a new innovative high-performance peptidase-based 
formulation and reformulation of a commercial drug for topical use; activation of characterisation activities for 
2 medical devices in a non-stick matrix. 

• Joint care area: activation of development activities of 2 new integrators as line extensions of the CartiJoint 
brand and completion of tech-transfer activities of 1 integrator to a new manufacturer. 

• Eye Care Area: activation of development activities for a new drug for topical use and 1 supplement to prevent 
and slow down optic nerve neurodegeneration. 
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Clinical research 

 

• Specialty Care: 2023 was characterised by intense clinical development activity aimed at consolidating the 
excellent safety results collected during the Phase 1 study on Collagenase for a number of diseases under 
study. 

•  Joint Care: during 2023, clinical activities continued necessary for the renewal and new CE marking according 
to the New European Regulation 745/2017 for some MDs included in this business area. At the same time, the 
development of a new drug was started, for which preclinical development will be finalised shortly in order to 
start the Phase I study as soon as possible.   

• Skin Care: in 2023, clinical activities continued in support of the Connettivina Bio line of products and those 
required to re-brand CE according to the New MDR 745/2017. Clinical validation activities for MD Hyalo4 Skin 
Gel have also been completed.  

• Gynaecology area: Start-up activities for a new clinical trial with HYALOGYN Gel continued and ended in 
2023. 

• Aesthetic Care: in 2023, monitoring activities continued in support of the clinical studies on the Hyal System 
line necessary for registration according to the new MDR 745/2017 regulation.  

• Oncology: Phase III study in non-invasive bladder cancer started in 2023.  
• Urology: 2023 saw the completion of activities to support the marking of the HYDEAL CYST MD according to 

the new MDR 745/2017. Start-up activities for the conduct of a new phase I/II clinical study with Collagenase 
have also begun. 

• Neuroscience: two post-authorisation efficacy trials (PAES) are underway. 
• Regenerative medicine: a clinical study confirming the efficacy and safety of HY-TISSUE SVF was completed 

in 2023, while the monitoring activities continue of a study with HY-TISSUE SVF and HY-TISSUE BMC, which 
is the subject of a targeted research call, and of a study evaluating the efficacy of HY-TISSUE SVF. 

•  Eye Care: between the end of 2022 and the beginning of 2023, four clinical investigations of five different MDs 
for dry eye were launched, all currently in the enrolment phase. The evidence gathered in these trials is 
instrumental in the renewal of the CE marking according to the New European Regulation 745/2017. A 
manuscript on Fidial Plus is being submitted. Start-up activities for a clinical trial with the new formulation of 
Iridium Garze have begun. 

 
Patents 

 
During 2023, Fidia’s patent portfolio grew with the filing of: 
 

• 3 patent applications in Italy; 
• 23 national or regional phases for applications previously extended through the PCT system. 

 
In addition, in 2023, 7 patents were registered in Italy and 170 worldwide (including endorsements of European 
patents). 
At the end of 2023, the group has about 1,400 patents, about 1,250 of which focused on the production, therapeutic 
applications and pharmaceutical composition of hyaluronic acid. In 2023, the Patent office actively contributed to the 
preparation of all the technical/scientific documentation required to obtain the tax breaks offered by the Tax Credit 
procedures for fundamental research, industrial research and experimental development in science and technology, 
and the patent box; it also collaborated on MISE and PNRR funded projects. 
In 2023, the Office began working with Medical Affairs to identify patents and news items for inclusion in the periodic 
reports produced by the Scientific Library. 
 
Medical Affairs 
 
The Medical Affairs department worked in 2023, aligned with corporate strategies, in planning, conducting and 
processing the following activities:    
 

• educational, concerning scientific meetings (53), training for distributors and ISFs (15) and reorganisation of 
training material for a total of 170 slide kits for about 2100 slides divided into 14 scientific areas; 

• congresses, with participation in events including International (18), National (380) and Fidia Academy (2) and 
a Global Forum with the following timely drafting, dissemination and archiving of Reports; 

• medical review of scientific content for a total of 513 promotional materials; 
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• portfolio analysis in the competitive scenario; 
• scientific assessment of submitted products according to business development opportunities; 
• scientific medical support for regulatory activities. 

 
Scientific Service  
 
The Scientific Service provides its constant support in the field of conference activities, creation of FAQs, drafting and 
dissemination of annual reports with analysis relating to medical information activity; drafting of SOPs on the activity 
of the Corporate Library & Intelligence Scientific Screening, drafting of SOPs for the management of Corporate 
Promotional Material, creation and archiving of "Intelligence Scientific Screening literature" in cooperation with the 
Patent Office, Discovery, commented by Medical Affairs and internal corporate dissemination to the functions 
concerned, creation and archiving of 467 certified PRP Training. 
 
Activities of the Non-Dilutive Funding Team 
 
In 2023, the Non-Dilutive Funding Team, made up of researchers from the Local Unit in Noto and researchers from the 
Research & Development Department in Abano, dedicated significant resources to the preparation of public funding 
applications, realising the following applications: 
 

• Innovation Agreements 2 (MIMIT: complementary fund to the PNRR - National Recovery and Resilience Plan): 
a second application for funding was submitted and approved for Industrial Research and Experimental 
Development activities for the clinical characterisation of Collagenase in certain urological pathologies and 
Oncofid-P in the treatment of oncological pathologies. 

• Industrial Development Contract: the tender was re-financed by MIMIT with PNRR funds and will cover the 
costs for major structural works on the Abano and Noto production plants, as well as cover Industrial Research 
and Experimental Development activities to investigate new indications for collagenase. 

• Veneto Region Call for Proposals for the support of research and development projects in the field of health 
and well-being: the funding will cover the costs for the characterisation of new molecules with antioxidant 
activity in the treatment of orphan diseases. 
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• MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

 
The following are the main risks to which the Group is exposed: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk relates to potential losses as a result of the inability of commercial counterparties to meet their obligations.  
The Group mainly operates with private customers, represented by pharmacies, medical clinics, opticians, wholesalers 
and distributors, but also with large industrial groups, as well as with the Public Administration (hospital sector).  
The group carefully monitors its credit exposure through an internal reporting system, in order to contain potential 
losses. Each Group company handles credit recovery on the sales made in their respective markets. Coordination 
between the companies that operate on the same market is based on the electronic exchange of information on 
common customers and on the coordination of any halts on deliveries or commencement of legal actions.  
The bad debt provision is the nominal amount due, less any receivables secured by guarantees. The recoverability of all 
guarantees shall be assessed critically. The provision is based on the individual analysis of overdue amounts, of the 
customers known to have financial difficulties and of those receivables for which legal action has commenced. A generic 
analysis based on historical losses is also carried out. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
It is related to the possibility of having insufficient liquidity to manage the Group’s normal operations. The group closely 
monitors this risk on the basis of thorough weekly financial reporting on its net financial position. About 89% of the 
Group’s gross debt is represented by fixed-rate debt with an average term of approximately 3 years. Any excess 
liquidity, i.e. liquidity in excess of free cash flow requirements, is invested in working capital securities, as described in 
greater detail in the notes, to which reference should be made. For this reason, part of the liquidity is subject to the risk 
arising from the market valuation of the underlying securities. 
 
Price Risk 
 
The Group sells products reimbursed by the National Health System and other (OTC) non-reimbursable products.  
The first group of products is a major public spending item for countries, exposing the Group to uncontrollable external 
risks, such as changes to the products covered by the National Health Service, the removal or reduction of 
reimbursability, the expenditure payback mechanism and patent expirations with the consequent introduction of 
generic drugs. 
The second group of products is more influenced by macroeconomic factors, such as inflation and interest rate trends, 
which could impact the spending capacity of consumers. 
In order to avoid these risks, the sales department closely monitors the group’s markets, analysing their trends and 
possible developments. 
 
Currency Risk 
 
Since it sells its products in various countries, the Group is exposed to risks arising from exchange rate fluctuations. 
Currency risk mainly relates to sales transactions in US dollars and Russian rubles. The group’s treasury unit closely 
monitors exchange rate trends, carrying out Euro translation transactions to reduce the translation risk. 
The Parent Company also holds equity investments in companies whose share capital is denominated in currencies 
other than the Euro. Changes in net equity arising from exchange rate fluctuations are recognised in a “translation 
reserve” under net equity. The risk arising from the translation of net equity is not currently hedged. 
 
Risks of changes in the pharmaceutical legislative and regulatory framework 
 
The pharmaceutical sector is highly regulated both nationally and internationally, thereby affecting activities at all 
levels. In order to reduce its dependence on the decisions of the individual national governments in terms of 
pharmaceutical expenditure, the Company pursues a strategy of diversifying and expanding its sales in various 
geographic areas. The pharmaceutical sector is also subject to national and international technical regulations 
governing how pharmaceutical research, development, production, distribution, and reporting are carried out. A policy 
is implemented for constant monitoring  of regulatory developments in all the markets of operation through internal 
and external organisational structures. The Company, like any company operating in the pharmaceutical sector, despite 
its strict compliance with the relevant regulations, could be exposed to the risk of claims for damages caused by its 
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drugs.  To meet these potential liabilities, appropriate insurance coverage has been taken out on all products on the 
market and under development, the maximum amount of which is deemed adequate and constantly monitored to 
assess its adequacy, with the support of analyses and market studies conducted by leading insurance brokers.  
The heavily regulated pharmaceutical sector exposes any business activity related to the drug lifecycle (from research 
and development to production and scientific information) to potential compliance risk. To guard against these risks, 
the Company has adopted an internal control system, articulated in a series of structured and organic procedures and 
organisational structures aimed at monitoring the risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations, guaranteeing 
correct and transparent internal reporting to the market, as well as preventing and limiting the consequences of 
unexpected results, aiming at the achievement of corporate objectives.  
 
 

• MANAGEMENT AND COORDINATION 

 
The Parent Company, Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A., is not managed and coordinated pursuant to art. 2497-bis.4 of the 
Italian Civil Code. 
 
 

• ADMINISTRATIVE LIABILITY 
 
By resolution of the Board of Directors on 12 July 2023, an update to the Company's Organisational Model was 
approved, indicating the internal reporting channels and providing for a disciplinary system against persons who violate 
the Whistleblowing Procedure. With the same resolution, the Whistleblowing Procedure was approved in accordance 
with the provisions of Legislative Decree 10 March 2023, No. 24, concerning the protection of persons who report 
breaches of Union and national law. 
The Supervisory Body met periodically in 2023 to verify the adequacy of the organisation model with respect to the 
sensitive activities identified. It also monitored the activities carried out to prevent crimes against the Public 
Administration, involuntary manslaughter and injury, crimes against the environment, corporate crimes, money 
laundering, counterfeiting, copyright infringements and tax offences, with detection of the results of this significant 
formalisation of procedures. 
With reference to EU Regulation 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27/04/2016 regarding 
the protection of personal data, the Company has continued with the management process of the corporate privacy 
policy, in adjustment to the various decisions and opinions of the competent authorities in the matter.  
Still on the compliance front, the company has continued to adjust its procedures, particularly in the area of the various 
medical promotion activities and clinical trials, as well as in the area of the transparency of transfers of value, again in 
compliance with the guidelines issued by the trade association Confindustria Medical Devices, however with particular 
attention to the broader duties of disclosure of economic relations between entities operating in the healthcare sector, 
introduced by Law 62/2022 (so-called Sunshine Act), although still lacking, with reference to the activities concerning 
the tracking and management of data required by the new legislation, concrete implementation due to the lack of 
issuance of the relevant implementing measures. 
 
 

• RELATIONS WITH SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES, PARENT COMPANIES AND COMPANIES SUBJECT TO 
CONTROL OF THE LATTER 

 
As regards Fidia's relations with the Parent Company, its subsidiaries, associated companies and companies controlled 
by the Parent Company, the following is a summary of the data relating to receivables, payables, revenues and costs as 
at 31 December 2023 (in thousands of Euro): 
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• TREASURY SHARES 
 

The Parent Company, Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A., holds 333,513 own shares for an amount of €11,211,523, 
corresponding to 4.7% of the share capital. They are recognised in a negative reserve for own shares in portfolio. 
Reference is made to the notes for further details. 
No new own shares were acquired during the financial year. 
 
 

• SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER YEAR-END 

 
In February 2024, the parent company, Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A., acquired 100% of an Italian company based in Rome 
active in the distribution of contact lenses, eye drops, food supplements and more. The company is active not only in 
the pharmacy channel but also in the large-scale retail trade and online channels; in 2023, it had a domestic market 
share of around 70% for disposable contact lenses (8 million units sold) and 35% for lens solutions (Iqvia data). 
The investment includes market-leading brands such as Contacta® and Correct®, which today boast a wide range of 
products, including daily contact lens lines for myopia and maintenance solutions, a line of natural eye drops and a large 
selection of spectacles (presbyopia, sunglasses and light shields). In addition to these products, there is a line of 
supplements for psycho-physical well-being and a line of citronella and anti-jellyfish repellents, Respingo. 
Another transaction concluded in early 2024 relates to a new commercial agreement with the multinational Novartis, 
a leader in the development of innovative drugs, for the distribution, as of March 2024, of 6 ophthalmological medicinal 
specialities for the treatment of glaucoma. 
The sales concession not only represents an enrichment of the Fidia national list of drugs for major eye diseases, but 
also consolidates the partnership with Novartis in the ophtha area, which in 2019, had seen the achievement of an 
agreement for the marketing of reference products for the local treatment of eye inflammations and infections. 
With these transactions, together with the operation in the Polish market in 2023, the Fidia Group is strengthening in 
one of the main therapeutic areas of its portfolio: ophthalmology, aiming to increase its market shares in Italy and 
abroad. 
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With reference to the global macroeconomic framework, 2023 was characterised by a downsizing of inflationary 
pressures, which led central banks to assume scenarios of falling rates from the second half of 2024 onwards. Inflation 
in the EU is expected to decrease from 6.3% (recorded in 2023) to 3.0% (expected in 2024). However, economic growth 
is expected to be slow. Contributing to this situation were the measures taken to support energy costs, the effects of 
which are, however, wearing off. Added to this, in the macroeconomic scenario, is the macro-political scenario, which 
in 2023, worsened further due to the opening of a new war front, in addition to the Russian-Ukrainian one, in the Israeli-
Palestinian area. Trade repercussions are beginning to be felt due to the terrorist attacks on merchant ships passing 
through the Suez Strait and the resulting tensions on the prices of imported products in the Mediterranean countries. 
The escalation of hostilities can easily involve neighbouring countries and have repercussions on a regional scale, posing 
a threat to peace and security not only in the Middle East but also globally. 
The Fidia Group in the area (Israel, Jordan, Lebanon) has a turnover of about €0.9 million (with reference to 2023 figures 
and excluding sales in Egypt, which amount to €3.0 million).  
As far as the Russian-Ukrainian area is concerned, however, the Fidia Group's turnover amounted to about 1% of its 
overall turnover, which in 2023 stood at €5.4 million, up from 2022 (€4.8 million). Of this, about 95% is represented by 
turnover in Russia where, as from May 2023, the company Fidia Pharma Russia took over the sales activity from the 
previous distributor, thus directly managing the market. 
In order to provide a better understanding of the effects on the financial statements deriving from the risk linked to the 
trend of the Ruble, a specific sensitivity analysis was carried out to determine the impact on the balance sheet of 
fluctuations in the exchange rate against the Euro. Therefore, reference is made to the notes for further details on the 
matter. 
The Fidia Group considers the aforementioned events as a non-adjusting, pursuant to IAS 10. In view of a constantly 
and rapidly evolving overall situation, it is not currently possible to make a quantitative estimate of the potential impact 
that the geopolitical tensions in question could have on the Group's economic and financial situation (in fact, there are 
many factors involved that are difficult to assess, in the current situation, and many of them have not yet been fully 
defined). As a result, these analyses will be progressively updated as part of the accounting estimates for FY 2024. 

 

 

• OUTLOOK 

 
Geopolitical risks, which had not been so high for decades, contributed to the uncertainty on the economic front. With 
the ongoing war in Ukraine, the humanitarian crisis in the Middle East, and rising tensions between China and the West, 
companies and investors find themselves forced to make business decisions in a context where it is increasingly difficult 
to predict how individual geopolitical crises will affect companies' supply and distribution chains.  
In view of a constantly and rapidly evolving overall situation, it is not currently possible to make a quantitative estimate 
of the potential impact that the geopolitical tensions in question could have on the Group's economic and financial 
situation (in fact, there are many factors involved that are difficult to assess, and many of them have not yet been fully 
defined). As a result, these analyses will be progressively updated as part of the accounting estimates for FY 2024. 
Considering what stated above, it is currently not possible to provide any forecasts in relation to the year underway. 
 
Abano Terme, 27 March 2024 
For the Board of Directors 
The Chairman 
Carlo Pizzocaro 
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• NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 

 

1. General corporate information  
 

The Fidia Group (hereinafter also referred to as the “Group”) operates in the field of the sale of pharmaceutical 
products, the result of its own research, worldwide through commercial agreements with international companies 
operating in the pharmaceutical and biomedical sectors and through direct presence in strategic markets. 
 
The Parent Company is Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A. (hereinafter also referred to as “the Parent Company”). The registered 
office is in Abano Terme (PD) in via Ponte della Fabbrica 3/A. The Parent Company carries out its activities in five sites:  

• Abano Terme (PD) - Via Ponte della Fabbrica 3/A; 

• Noto (SR) Contrada Pizzuta; 

• Paderno Dugnano (MI) - Via Ampere 19/2; 

• Monte Giberto (FM) – Via del Lavoro 2; 

• Milano – Via Vegezio 19. 
 

2. Financial statements adopted 
 

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023, prepared on the assumption 
that the Parent Company and the other consolidated companies are a going concern, were prepared pursuant to 
articles 2 and 3 of Legislative Decree no. 38/2005, in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and endorsed by the European Commission, which 
include the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), as well 
as the previous International Accounting Standards (IAS) and the interpretations of the Standard Interpretations 
Committee (SIC) still in force. For the sake of simplicity, the set of all standards and interpretations is hereinafter 
referred to as the “IFRS”. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the historical cost principle, except for derivative 
instruments recognised at fair value. Please refer to the assessment for the individual items described in note 3 
“Accounting standards and assessment criteria applied”. 
 
The consolidated financial statements consist of the consolidated financial statements (statement of financial position, 
income statement, comprehensive income statement, statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, cash flow 
statement) and these notes, applying the provisions of IAS 1 “Presentation of the financial statements” and IAS 7 “Cash 
Flow Statement”. 
 
The following is an indication of the financial statements adopted: 
 
• in the consolidated statement of financial position, it was decided to represent current and non-current assets, and 

current and non-current liabilities, as separate classifications, in accordance with IAS 1; 
• in the Income Statement and in the Comprehensive Income Statement, it was decided to present an analysis of costs 

using a classification based on their purpose; 
• in the Statement of Changes in Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity, occurred during the period, these are represented 

by means of a columnar statement reconciling the opening and closing balances of each item of net consolidated 
shareholders’ equity; 

• the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement represents cash flows by classifying them into operating, investing and 
financing activities. In particular, cash flows from operating activities are reported, as required by IAS 7, using the 
indirect method, whereby the profit or loss for the financial year is adjusted by the effects of transactions of a non-
cash nature, by any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash collections or payments, and by items of 
revenues or costs associated with cash flows from investing or financing activities. 

 

The IFRS are applied consistently with the indications provided in the “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting” 
and no critical issues arose that required recourse to waivers pursuant to IAS 1, paragraph 19.  
All amounts are expressed in thousands of Euro, unless otherwise indicated. The Euro is the functional currency of the 
Parent Company and of its main subsidiaries, as well as the presentation currency of these consolidated financial 
statements. For comparative purposes, the corresponding value for the previous financial year is shown for each item 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
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3. Preparation criteria 

 
3.1 Principles of consolidation 
 
The annual consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A. and the 
financial statements of companies over which it has the right to exercise control. The definition of control is not solely 
based on the concept of legal ownership. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern 
the financial and operating policies of a company in order to obtain the relative benefits. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the annual consolidated financial statements from the date on which control is assumed 
until it ceases to exist. The shares of shareholders’ equity and of the results attributable to minority shareholders, if any, 
are shown separately in both the consolidated statement of financial position and in the consolidated income 
statement. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis.  
 
The full consolidation method can be summarised as follows: 
 
• assets, liabilities, costs and revenues are taken at their full amount, derecognising the carrying value of the 

investments against the current value of the investee's shareholders’ equity at the acquisition date. The difference 
resulting from this derecognition, for the part not attributable to specific balance sheet items, is recognised as 
goodwill under intangible assets if positive, while is charged to the income statement if negative; 

• profits and losses deriving from transactions between subsidiaries not yet realised vis-à-vis third parties, as well as 
receivables and payables, costs and revenues between consolidated companies, if significant, are derecognised; 

• dividends distributed by consolidated companies are derecognised from the income statement and added to the 
profits of previous financial years, if and to the extent that they have been withdrawn from them; 

• minority interest in shareholders' equity and minority interest in profit or (loss), if any, are shown in a separate line 
under shareholders' equity, separately from Group shareholders' equity, and in a separate line under income 
statement, respectively. 

 

The financial statements of subsidiaries used to prepare the consolidated financial statements are those approved by 
their respective Boards of Directors and submitted to their respective meetings for approval. The reporting date of the 
financial statements of the consolidated Companies is the same as that of the Parent Company.  
 
For consolidation purposes, all income statements and balance sheets used for consolidation purposes have been 
adjusted to adhere to the IAS/IFRS measurement and assessment criteria used for the consolidated financial 
statements of the Parent Company. 
 
The Companies included in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2023, are shown in the table 
below: 
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Translation of financial statements in foreign currencies 
 
In the consolidated financial statements, income, costs, assets and liabilities are expressed in Euro, which is the 
presentation currency of the Parent Company. 
 
For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of consolidated companies 
with a functional currency different from the presentation currency are converted into Euro by applying to assets and 
liabilities, including goodwill and consolidation adjustments, the exchange rate in force at year-end, and to income 
statement items, the average exchange rate for the financial year, provided that it approximates the exchange rates in 
force at the date of the respective transactions.  
 
The related exchange rate differences are recognised directly in shareholders’ equity and are shown separately in a 
special reserve thereof (Translation Reserve); this reserve is reversed proportionally to the Income Statement at the 
time of the (partial or total) disposal of the investment. 
 
In order to consider the impact of hyperinflation on the exchange rate of the local currency, the statement of financial 
position and results of operations (i.e. assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity items, revenues and costs) of a company 
whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy are converted into the Group's presentation 
currency (Euro) using the exchange rate in force at year-end, except for comparative amounts presented in the financial 
statements of the previous year that are not adjusted for subsequent changes in the price level or subsequent changes 
in exchange rates. 
 
The exchange rates applied are shown in the table below and correspond to those published by the Ufficio Italiano dei 
Cambi (Italian Foreign Exchange Office). 
 

 
 

3.2 Discretionary assessments and significant accounting estimates 

In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, management was required to make 
estimates and assessments that affect the application of accounting policies and the amounts of assets, liabilities, costs 
and revenues recognised in the financial statements. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 
in outcomes that will require, in the future, a significant adjustment to the book value of these assets and/or liabilities.  

 
These estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly. Any changes resulting from the revision of 
accounting estimates are recognised prospectively. 
 
The following is a brief description of those items in the financial statements that require greater subjectivity on the 
part of the Directors in developing estimates than others and for which a change in the conditions underlying the 
assumptions used could have a material impact on the financial data. 
 
Main accounting standards and assessment criteria applied 
 
The most significant accounting standards and assessment criteria applied in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 are described below. 
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Fidia Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been prepared 
using the historical cost assessment criterion, except for the following significant items: investments in financial assets 
and derivative instruments, which are recognised at fair value.  
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Tangible assets (Property, plant and equipment) 
 
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at historical cost, including directly attributable ancillary charges 
necessary to bring the asset into use for the purpose for which it was acquired, with the exception of land (both free of 
construction and attached to civil and industrial buildings) and assets held for sale, which are not depreciated, but are 
written down if their fair value is lower than the cost recognised in the financial statements. 
 
Costs incurred for improvements are only charged as an increase to the assets concerned when they produce actual 
increases in their value. 
 
Maintenance and repair costs that are not likely to enhance and/or extend the residual life of assets are expensed in 
the financial year in which they are incurred; otherwise, they are capitalised. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are shown net of the related accumulated depreciation and of any impairment losses 
determined on the basis of the impairment test. Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, 
plant and equipment less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives.  
 
For assets acquired during the financial year, the rates are applied pro-rata temporis, taking into account the actual use 
of the asset during the year.  
 
Depreciation is generally recognised in profit/(loss) for the financial year. Depreciation methods, useful lives and 
residual values are reviewed at year-end and adjusted if appropriate. 
 
The main economic-technical depreciation rates used are as follows: 
 

 
 
At each reporting date, the Company reviews for objective evidence of impairment with respect to the book values of 
property, plant and equipment. 
 
If, on the basis of this check, it emerges that the assets have actually been impaired, the company estimates their 
recoverable value. 
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. When the 
book value of an asset exceeds the recoverable value, an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses are 
recognised in profit/(loss) of the year. Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are reversed up to the book value 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation) if the asset impairment loss had never been recognised. 
 
The accounting treatment of assets acquired under finance leases, with regard to their equity, financial and economic 
effects, is in line with IFRS 16. The aforementioned standard requires that these assets be recognised under owned 
assets at cost and be depreciated using the same criteria as other tangible assets. 
 
The principal amount of the unpaid instalments is recognised as a liability in the balance sheet, while the financial 
charges relating to the accrued instalments are included in financial charges in the income statement. 
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Right of use 
 
On the effective date of the lease, the Group recognises the right-of-use asset and the lease liability. The right-of-use 
asset is initially assessed at cost, including the amount of the initial assessment of the lease liability, adjusted for the 
payments due for the lease made on or before the effective date, increased by the initial direct costs incurred and an 
estimate of the costs that the tenant will have to incur for the dismantling and removal of the underlying asset or for 
the reversal of the underlying asset or of the site where it is located, net of lease incentives received. 
 
Rights of use are amortised according to the lease term of the contract, which is equal to the “non-cancellable” period 
together with the effects of any extension or early termination clauses, the exercise of which has been deemed 
reasonably certain, or according to the useful life of the asset, if shorter. In accordance with IFRS 16:32, if the transfer 
of the leased asset is contractually agreed and the exercise of this option is deemed reasonably certain, the right of use 
is amortised over the useful life of the leased asset. 
 
In addition, the right-of-use asset is regularly decreased by any impairment losses and adjusted to reflect any changes 
resulting from subsequent assessments of the lease liability. 
The Group assesses the lease liability at the present value of unpaid lease payments due at the effective date, 
discounting them using specific marginal financing rates based on the country, the currency and the term of the related 
leases. The rates identified were between 1.5% and 3.5%. Right-of-use assets were valued at an amount equal to the 
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any accumulated prepayments. 
 
Lease payments due within the assessment of the lease liability include: 
 
• fixed payments (including substantially fixed payments); 
• lease payments that depend on a ratio or rate, initially assessed using a ratio or rate on the effective date; 
• the amounts expected to be paid as collateral on the residual value;  
• lease payments due in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the renewal option, 

and penalties for early termination of the lease, unless the Group is reasonably certain not to terminate the lease 
early. 

 
The lease liability is assessed at amortised cost using the effective interest method and it is remeasured when there is 
a change in the future lease payments due resulting from a change in the ratio or rate, when there is a change in the 
amount the Group expects to have to pay as security on the residual value or when the Group changes its assessment 
by reference to whether or not it exercises an option to purchase, extend or terminate or when there is a review of the 
lease payments due that are fixed in substance. 
 
When the lease liability is remeasured, the tenant makes a corresponding change to the right-of-use asset. If the book 
value of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero, the tenant recognises the change in profit/(loss) for the financial year. 
 
In the statement of financial position, the Group shows right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property under ‘Tangible assets’ and lease liabilities under ‘Financial Payables’.  
The Group has decided not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities related to low-value assets and short-
term leases, including computer equipment, for which it recognises the related lease payments as a cost on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 
 
Corporate combinations and goodwill 

 
Acquisitions of companies and business units are accounted for using the acquisition method, as provided for by IFRS 
3; to this end, the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed and identifiable are recognised at their respective fair 
values at the acquisition date. The cost of the acquisition is measured by the total of the fair values, at the date of 
exchange, of the assets disbursed, the liabilities assumed and any equity instruments issued by Group companies in 
exchange for control of the acquired entity. 
 
Goodwill is recognised as the positive difference between the cost of the acquisition, plus both the fair value at the 
acquisition date of any non-controlling interests already held in the acquired company, and the value of non-controlling 
interests held by third parties in the acquired company (the latter assessed at fair value or in proportion to the current 
value of the acquired company's identifiable net assets), and the fair value of those assets and liabilities. 
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As of the acquisition date, the goodwill that has emerged is allocated to each of the substantially independent cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies resulting from the business combination. 
 
In the event of a negative difference between the cost of the acquisition (as increased by the components described 
above) and the fair value of the assets and liabilities, this is recorded as income in the income statement for the year of 
acquisition. 
 
Any goodwill relating to non-controlling interests is included in the carrying value of the investments relating to those 
companies. After initial recognition, goodwill, as an intangible asset with indefinite useful life, is not amortised, but is 
subject to periodic impairment tests on its recoverability based on the expected cash flows of the Cash-Generating Unit 
(CGU) to which the asset relates. These tests, expressly codified by international accounting standards and called 
impairment tests, also take into account the riskiness of the investment. If the discounted expected cash flows do not 
permit recovery of the initial investment, the recognised asset is written down accordingly. The ways are better 
described in the section “Impairment and reversal of impairment of assets (impairment test)”. 
 
IFRS 3 has not been applied retroactively to acquisitions made prior to 1 January 2019, the date of the Parent 
Company's transition to IFRS; consequently, the value of goodwill determined under the previous accounting 
standards, equal to the net book value in place at that date, was maintained for these acquisitions, after testing and 
recognising any impairment losses. 
 
Intangible assets with definite life 
 
In accordance with the provisions of IAS 38, intangible assets include costs, inclusive of ancillary charges, incurred for 
the acquisition of assets and resources, without physical substance, to be used in the production of goods or the 
provision of services, to be leased to third parties, or to be used for administrative purposes, provided that the cost can 
be reliably measured and the asset is clearly identifiable and controlled by the company that owns it. Goodwill, when 
acquired for consideration, is also recognised. 
 
Separately acquired intangible assets are recognised at historical cost and expenses incurred subsequent to initial 
acquisition are added to the cost of intangible assets to the extent that these expenses are capable of generating future 
economic benefits. Intangible assets acquired through corporate combinations are capitalised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. 
 
Assets with definite useful life are systematically depreciated on a straight-line basis over each period, in order to take 
into account their remaining useful life. The carrying value is reviewed annually, or more frequently if necessary, in 
order to carry out an adequacy analysis for the purpose of recognising any impairment losses or, more frequently, 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may have suffered an impairment loss. 
 
Research costs are charged to the consolidated income statement when they are incurred.  
 
In accordance with IAS 38, development costs are recognised to balance sheet assets only if they positively meet the 
following specific characteristics: they must be related to a clearly defined product or process, as well as identifiable 
and measurable; they must refer to a feasible project, i.e. technically feasible, for which the company owns or can 
dispose of the necessary resources; they must be recoverable, i.e. the company must have income prospects, so that the 
revenues it expects to realise from the project are at least sufficient to cover the costs incurred for the study of the 
same, after deducting all the other development costs and the production and sales costs that will be incurred for the 
marketing of the product. Development costs are amortised over their useful life, which is assumed to be a maximum 
of ten years.   
 
After the initial recognition of development costs, they are assessed at cost, which may be decreased by depreciation 
or write-downs. Capitalised development costs are amortised on the basis of their future usefulness over the period in 
which the expected future revenues will arise from the same project. 
 
The carrying value of development costs is reviewed annually in order to carry out an adequacy analysis for the purpose 
of recognising any impairment losses or, more frequently, whenever there is an indication that the asset may have 
suffered an impairment loss. 
  



  

 

       

       

38 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2023 
REPORT ON OPERATIONS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The amortisation of patents, licenses and know-how starts from the year in which the marketing of the relevant 
products begins.  
 
Concession and license fees are amortised in proportion to the period of use provided for in the contract, using the 
percentages considered representative of the estimated useful life of the assets. 
 
The main economic-technical depreciation rates used are as follows: 
 

 
 
Gains or losses from the disposal of an intangible asset are determined as the difference between the disposal value 
and the carrying value of the asset and are recognised in the income statement at the time of disposal. 
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Impairment losses of assets 

 
IAS 36 requires the assessment of the existence of impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets in the presence 
of indicators that suggest that this issue may exist. In the case of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite life 
or assets not yet available for use, this assessment must be performed at least annually. 
 
The recoverability of recognised values is verified by comparing the book value recorded in the financial statements 
with the higher of the net sales price, if an active market exists, and the value in use of the asset. 
 
The value in use is defined on the basis of discounting the cash flows expected from use of the asset, or a combination 
of assets (so-called cash-generating units) and from the value expected from its disposal at the end of its useful life. The 
cash-generating units have been identified consistently with the organisational and business structure of the Group, as 
homogeneous aggregations that generate independent cash inflows from the continuous use of the assets attributable 
to them. 
 
Impairment losses relating to continuing transaction are recognised in the income statement in cost categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired asset. At year-end, the Group also assesses the existence of indicators of a 
decrease in previously recognised impairment losses and, if such indicators exist, it makes a new estimate of the 
recoverable amount. 
 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
The recoverable amount is the higher of net selling price and value in use. In assessing the value in use, estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using an after-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
value of money and risks specific to the asset. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or of a cash generating unit) is estimated to be lower than its book value, the book 
value of the asset is reduced to the lower recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement. 
 
A previously recognised impairment loss can be reversed only if there have been changes in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. In that case, the book value of the 
asset is increased to the recoverable amount; however, the increased book value must not exceed the book value that 
would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) if no impairment loss had been recognised. Each 
reversal is recognised as income in the income statement; after a reversal is recognised, the depreciation or 
amortisation share for the asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised book value, less its residual 
value, if any, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill may not be reversed. 
 
Equity investments in associated or other companies 
 
An associated company is an enterprise in which the Group is able to exercise significant influence, but not control, 
through participation in the financial and operating decision-making policies of the investee. The results of operations 
and the assets and liabilities of associated companies are recognised in the consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method. 
 
Other equity investments, which represent long-term investments recognised under financial assets, are assessed on 
the basis of the purchase price, of the subscription price or of the value attributed to the assets transferred, including 
any ancillary charges. 
 
Equity investments are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if necessary. If there is evidence that these 
equity investments have suffered an impairment loss, this is recognised in the income statement as a write-down; the 
original value is reversed in subsequent financial years if the reasons for the write-down no longer apply. 
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Financial instruments 

 
The Group has adopted IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. IFRS 9 requires the classification and assessment of financial 
assets based on the business model by which these assets are managed, taking into account the characteristics of their 
cash flows. In this regard, the Group classifies financial assets on the basis of how the Group manages them in order to 
achieve its goals and the contractual cash flow characteristics of these financial assets. It is specified that: 
 
• the Group's financial assets that have been assigned business models the goal of which is the holding of assets for the 

purpose of collecting contractual cash flows (“held-to-collect”) have been assessed at amortised cost; 
• the Group's financial assets that have been assigned business models the goal of which is pursued through both the 

collection of contractual cash flows and the sale of financial assets according to the holding and expected turnover of 
the financial assets (“held-to-collect and sell”) have been classified as financial assets assessed at fair value with an 
impact on the comprehensive income statement; 

• financial assets that have been assigned a different business model from the above (“other”) have been classified as 
financial assets at fair value through the income statement. 

 
For the purposes of classifying financial assets into the new categories under IFRS9, the analysis of the business model 
was complemented by the analysis of contractual flows (so-called “SPPI Test”).  
 
In this regard, the Group assessed whether the characteristics of the contractual cash flows allow for assessment at 
amortised cost (“held-to-collect”) or at fair value with impact on the comprehensive income statement (“held-to-collect 
and sell”). 
 
The aforementioned categories envisaged by IFRS 9 replace the previous categories of IAS 39, that is, assets held to 
maturity, loans and receivables, assets available for sale and assets assessed at FVTPL. 
 
Specifically, a financial asset should be assessed at amortised cost if it is not designated at FVTPL and if both of the 
following conditions are met: 
 
• the financial asset is held as part of a business model whose goal is to hold financial assets for the purpose of collecting 

contractual cash flows; 
• the contractual terms of the financial asset provide for cash flows at certain dates, represented solely by payments of 

capital and interest on the amount of capital to be repaid. 
 
A financial asset must be assessed at FVOCI if it is not designated at FVTPL and if both of the following conditions are 
met: 
 
• the financial asset is held as part of a business model whose goal is achieved through both the collection of contractual 

cash flows and the sale of financial assets; and 
• the contractual terms of the financial asset provide for cash flows at certain dates, represented solely by payments of 

capital and interest on the amount of capital to be repaid. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 
 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its position against foreign exchange and interest rate risks. 
Derivative instruments are initially assessed at fair value. After initial recognition, derivatives are assessed at fair value 
and changes in fair value are usually recognised in net result for the financial year.  
 
Consistent with IFRS 9, derivative financial instruments can be accounted for in accordance with the hedge accounting 
only when: 
 
• at the beginning of the hedge, there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging relationship; 
• it is expected that the hedge will be highly effective; 
• effectiveness can be reliably measured;  
• the hedge is highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which it is designated. 
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All derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. When derivative instruments have the characteristics 
to be accounted for under hedge accounting, the following accounting treatments apply: 
 
• Fair value hedge – if a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the exposure to changes in the 

current value of an asset or liability in the financial statements that can determine effects on the income statement, 
the profit or loss deriving from subsequent assessment of the current value of the hedging instrument are recognised 
in the income statement, as are the profit or loss on the hedged item. 

• Cash flow hedge – if a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the exposure to the variability of the 
cash flows of an asset or liability in the financial statements or of a highly probable envisaged transaction that could 
affect the income statement, the effective portion of the gains or losses on the financial instrument is recognised in 
shareholders’ equity; the cumulative profit or loss is reversed from shareholders’ equity and recorded in the income 
statement in the same period in which the hedged transaction is recognised; the profit or loss associated with a hedge, 
or with that part of the hedge that has become ineffective, are recognised in the income statement when the 
ineffectiveness is recognised. 

 
If the conditions for the application of hedge accounting do not exist, the effects deriving from the fair value assessment 
of the derivative financial instrument are charged directly to the income statement. 
 
At the beginning of the designated hedging relationship, the Group documents the goals in managing the risk and the 
strategy in carrying out the hedge, as well as the economic relationship and the hedging instrument, and whether the 
changes in cash and cash equivalents of the hedged item and of the hedging instrument are expected to offset each 
other. 
 
When a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of exposure to variability in cash flows, the effective 
portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument is recognised in other components of the 
comprehensive income statement and presented in the cash flow hedge reserve. The effective portion of changes in the 
fair value of the derivative financial instrument that is recognised in the other components of the comprehensive 
income statement is limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item, determined on a present value 
basis, from the beginning of the hedge. The ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative financial 
instrument is recognised immediately in net result for the year. 
 
If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or if the hedging instrument is sold, expires, is terminated 
or is exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. When hedge accounting for cash flow hedges 
ceases, the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve remains in shareholders’ equity until, in the case of a 
hedge of a transaction that results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, it is included in 
the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability upon initial recognition or, in the case of other cash flow 
hedges, it is reclassified to the result in the same financial year or subsequent financial years in which the hedged 
expected cash flows affect the result for the financial year. 
 
If future hedged cash flows are no longer expected, the amount must be reclassified immediately from the cash flow 
hedge reserve and from the hedge cost reserve to the result for the financial year. 
The company assesses, at least annually, whether there are any indicators that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets may be impaired. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities  
 

Financial assets 

 

A financial asset (or where applicable, part of a financial asset or parts of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised from the financial statements when: 
 
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset no longer apply; 
• the Group retains the right to receive the future cash flows of the assets but has assumed a contractual obligation to 

pass them on to a third party internally without material delay;  
• the Group has transferred the right to receive the cash flows from the asset and (i) has transferred substantially all of 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (ii) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset. 

If the Group has assigned the right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither retained nor assigned 
substantially all of the risks and rewards or has not lost control over the asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
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asset to the extent to which it has a residual involvement in the asset. This residual involvement, consisting of a 
guarantee given on the transferred asset, is assessed at the initial book value of the asset or, if lower, at the maximum 
amount that the Group could be required to pay.  
 
In cases where the residual involvement takes the form of an issued and/or purchased option on the transferred asset 
(including cash-settled or similar options), the extent of the Group's involvement corresponds to the amount of the 
transferred asset that the Group may repurchase; however, in the case of a written put option on an asset measured at 
fair value (including cash-settled or similar options), the extent of the Group's residual involvement is limited to the 
lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the exercise price of the option. 
 

Financial liabilities 

 

A financial liability is derecognised from the financial statements when the underlying obligation is either discharged 
or cancelled or when it expires. 
 
In cases where an existing financial liability is replaced by another of the same lender under substantially different 
conditions, or there has been a substantial modification of the conditions of an existing liability, this exchange or 
modification is accounted for as derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. Any 
differences in book values is recognised in the income statement. 
 
Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade receivables, which generally have maturities in the short term, are recognised at the nominal amount stated on 
the invoice, net of the bad debt provision determined in accordance with the “expected loss” impairment model 
required by IFRS 9. This impairment model is supplemented by any additional write-downs recognised as a result of 
specific doubtful collection conditions on individual loan positions, at the time of their identification. 
 
When, due to the payment terms granted, a financial transaction takes place, receivables are assessed using the 
amortised cost method by discounting the nominal value to be received, and recognising the discount as financial 
income in the period of its maturity. 
 
Receivables denominated in foreign currencies are aligned with the year-end exchange rate, and gains or losses arising 
from the adjustment are recognised in the income statement under the item where the transaction was originally 
recognised. 
 
Medium- and long-term loans 
 
Medium- and long-term loans are initially recorded at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred. Following initial 
recognition, financial liabilities are valued at amortised cost using the original effective interest rate method, 
represented by the rate that makes the present value of the cash flows and the initial book value equal at the time of 
initial recognition. Any gain or loss is recognised in the income statement when the liability is extinguished, as well as 
through the amortisation process. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are recorded at the lower of purchase and/or production cost, determined using the weighted average cost 
method on an annual basis, and the net estimated realisable or replacement value. Net realisable value is determined 
with reference to the estimated selling price under normal market conditions, net of direct selling costs. 
Obsolete and/or slow-moving inventories are written down in relation to their presumed possibility of future use or 
realisation. The write-down is derecognised in subsequent years if the reasons thereof no longer apply.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank and postal sight deposits and investments in securities made in 
the course of treasury management activities, which have a short-term maturity, are highly liquid and subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. They are recognised at fair value, which is the same as nominal value, net of any 
expected impairment. 
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Shareholders' equity 
 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised based on the amount received. Dividends distributed by the 
Parent Company are recognised as a liability at the time of the distribution resolution. The purchase cost and the sale 
price of own shares are recorded directly in the shareholders' equity and therefore they do not pass through the income 
statement. 
 
Provision for risks and charges 
 
Allocations to provisions for risks and charges are made when the Group must fulfil a current obligation (legal or 
implicit) arising from a past event, when an outflow of resources in order to fulfil this obligation is probable and it is 
possible to make a reliable estimate of its amount.  
 
Provisions for risks and charges are recognised when there is a current obligation (legal or implicit) deriving from a past 
event, if an outlay of resources to meet the obligation is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. Allocations are recognised at the value representing the best estimate of the amount that the company 
would pay to settle the obligation or to transfer it to third parties at the end of the period. If the effect of discounting is 
significant, allocations are calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money. If discounting is used, the increase in the allocation 
due to the passage of time is recognised as financial charge. 
 
When the Group considers that a provision for risks and charges will be partly or fully reimbursed, for example in the 
case of risks covered by insurance policies, the indemnity is recognised separately as an asset when, and only when, 
collection is practically certain. In this case, any allocations recorded in the income statement are reported net of the 
amount recognised for the indemnity.  
 
Post-employment benefits to employees 
 
Implementing the provisions of IAS 19, employee benefits to be paid out subsequent to the termination of employment 
(Employee Severance Indemnity) are subject to an actuarial assessment that must take into account a number of 
variables (such as mortality, expected future salary changes, expected inflation rate, etc.).  
 
Benefits guaranteed to employees, paid when or after employment is terminated, by means of defined benefit 
programmes (Employee Severance Indemnity) or other long-term benefits (retirement indemnity) are recognised in the 
period when the right accrues. 
 
In defined benefit plans, the company's obligation is to grant and guarantee the agreed benefits to employees: 
consequently, the actuarial and investment risk is borne by the company. 
 
Liabilities relating to defined benefit programmes, net of any assets servicing the plan, are determined using actuarial 
assumptions and are recognised on an accruals basis to match the employment services required to obtain the benefits 
concerned. The liability is assessed by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method, based on 
demographic assumptions, in relation to the mortality and turnover rates of the target population, and financial 
assumptions, in relation to the discount rate reflecting the value of money in time and the inflation rate. 
 
The amendment to IAS 19 “Employee benefits” requires all actuarial gains or losses to be recognised immediately in the 
“Other comprehensive income”, so that the entire net amount of the defined benefit provision is recognised in the 
statement of financial position. The amendment also stipulated that changes between one financial year and the next 
in the defined benefit provision must be broken down into the following components: 
 
• social security costs related to current services, recognised under personnel costs; 
• the cost of interests, recorded under financial charges; 
• the expected return from program assets, if any, still charged to financial components. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses that arise from reassessments of the net defined benefit plan liability are recognised 
immediately in the other components of the comprehensive income statement. 
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Trade payables 

 
Trade payables, whose due date falls within normal commercial terms, are not discounted and are recorded at cost 
(identified by their nominal value). When, due to the payment terms agreed upon, a financial transaction takes place, 
payables assessed using the amortised cost method are discounted to their nominal value to be paid, with the discount 
being recognised as a financial charge. 
Payables denominated in foreign currencies are aligned with the year-end exchange rate, and gains or losses arising 
from the adjustment are recognised in the income statement under the item where the transaction was originally 
recognised. 
 
Other current assets and liabilities 
 
Other current assets and liabilities are recognised at their nominal value. 
 
Revenues 
 

Revenues are recognised on the basis of the accounting model provided for in IFRS 15, which provides for, as 
fundamental steps: 
 
• the identification of the contract with the customer; 
• the identification of the performance obligations contained in the contract; 
• the determination of the price; 
• the allocation of the price to the performance obligations contained in the contract; 
• the criteria for recognising revenue when the entity meets each performance obligation, which may occur at a specific 

point in time or continuously (over time). 
 
Revenues are recognised based on fees allocated to “performance obligations” arising from contracts with customers.  
  
In cases where a contract with a customer consists of several “performance obligations”, the Group allocates a fair 
contractual fee on the basis of the “expected cost plus margin” criterion. 
 
Revenues are recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will accrue to the Group and the 
amount can be reliably determined. Revenue recognition takes place when the relevant “performance obligation” is 
met, i.e. when the Group has transferred control of the good or service to the customer, in the following ways: 
 
• over time; 
• at point in time. 
 
Revenues and income are recognised at fair value less returns, discounts, allowances, premiums and indirect taxes. 
When the financial effect related to the deferral of collection is significant and the collection dates can be reliably 
estimated, the related financial component is recognised under financial income (charges).  
 
Revenues from the sale of products are recognised when ownership passes, which generally occurs when the goods are 
shipped and entails the transfer of all risks and rewards connected with the products sold. 
 
Revenues for services are recognised on the basis of the satisfaction of each performance obligation as required by 
IFRS 15, i.e. on completion of the transfer of the promised good or service to the customer when the customer obtains 
control of the good or service, which may occur at a specific point in time or continuously (over time). Interest income, 
as well as interest charges, are calculated on the value of the relevant financial assets and liabilities, using the effective 
interest rate. 
 
Dividends are recognised when the shareholders' right to receive payment arises. 
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Operating costs and other operating charges 

 
Operating costs and other operating charges are recognised in the financial statements when they are incurred on an 
accrual basis and related to revenues, when they do not produce future economic benefits or when they do not qualify 
for recognition as assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
When the deferred payment agreement includes a financial component, the fee is discounted and the difference 
between the nominal value and the fair value is recognised in the income statement as a financial charge. 
 
Personnel costs include the amount of wages and salaries paid, provisions for pensions and for vacations accrued but 
not taken, and social security and welfare contributions, in accordance with contracts and current legislation. 
 
Contributions from public entities 
 
Government contributions are recognised in the financial statements at fair value when there is reasonable certainty 
that the company will comply with all the conditions for receiving the contributions and that they will be received. When 
contributions are related to cost components, they are recognised as revenues, but are systematically spread over the 
financial years so as to be commensurate with the costs they are intended to offset. Where a contribution is related to 
an asset, the asset and the contribution are recognised for their nominal values and the release to the income statement 
occurs progressively, on a straight-line basis, over the expected useful life of the relevant asset. Operating 
contributions, including those relating to research activities, are accounted for on an accruals basis and credited to the 
income statement under “other revenues”. 
 
Where the Group receives a non-monetary contribution, the asset and the contribution are recognised at their nominal 
value and released to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the relevant asset. 
In the case of loans or similar forms of assistance provided by government or similar institutions with an interest rate 
below the current market rate, the effect of the favourable interest rate is regarded as an additional government 
contribution. 
 
Financial income and charges 
 

Financial income and charges are recognised on an accruals basis on the interests accrued on the net value of the related 
financial assets and liabilities, using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Income taxes 
 
Current income taxes are recognised for each company on the basis of estimated taxable income in accordance with 
applicable rates and regulations, taking into account applicable exemptions and tax credits. 
 
The provision for current income taxes is shown in the balance sheet net of advances paid and of withholding taxes 
incurred.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are also determined, with the exception of goodwill arising from business 
combinations, in respect of temporary differences between the balance sheet values recorded in the financial 
statements and the corresponding values recognised for tax purposes. In particular, deferred tax assets are recognised 
if there is a probability of their recovery, i.e. when it is expected that sufficient taxable profits will be available in the 
future to allow for their recovery, while deferred taxes are not recognised only if it is doubtful that the related liability 
will arise.  
 
The value to be recognised in the financial statements of deferred tax assets is reviewed on each reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer likely that sufficient tax profits will be available in the future in order to allow 
all or part of this receivable to be used. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed annually at the reporting date 
and are recognised to the extent that it has become likely that future taxable income will be sufficient for their recovery. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined according to enacted tax rates that are expected to be applicable to 
taxable income in the financial years when those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled, with 
reference to the jurisdictions where the Group operates.  
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In accordance with IAS 12, the Group recognises deferred taxes on shareholders’ equity reserves in suspension of tax 
purposes only when such reserves are not assessed by Management as having been permanently acquired by the Group 
or when it is not probable that they will be use in a way that would result in a tax liability. 
 
Income taxes related to items recognised directly in shareholders’ equity are recognised directly in shareholders’ equity 
and not in the income statement. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legal right to compensate current tax assets with current tax 
liabilities and if the deferred taxes refer to the same legal entity and the same tax authority. 
 
Deferred taxes relating to items recognised outside the income statement are also recognised outside the income 
statement and, therefore, as shareholders' equity or in the comprehensive income statement, in line with the item to 
which they refer. 
 
In accordance with IAS 12, when an asset is reassessed for tax purposes and the reassessment relates to a previous 
financial year, or to a reassessment that is expected to take place in future financial years, the tax effects of both the 
reassessment of the asset and the adjustment of the value for tax purposes must be recognised in shareholders’ equity 
in the financial years in which they occur. Conversely, if the reassessment for tax purposes does not relate to an 
accounting reassessment of a previous financial year, or one that is expected to be made in a subsequent financial year, 
the tax effects of the value adjustment for tax purposes are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Value-added tax 
 
Revenues, costs and assets are recognised net of value-added taxes except where: 
 
• such tax applied to the purchase of goods or services is non-deductible, in which case it is recognised as part of the 

purchase cost of the asset or part of the cost item recognised in the income statement;  
• it refers to trade receivables and payables shown including the value of the tax. 
 
The net amount of indirect sales taxes that can be recovered from or paid to the Treasury is included in the financial 
statements under trade receivables or trade payables, depending on the sign of the balance. 
 
Translation of foreign currency items 
 
The functional and reporting currency adopted by the Group is the Euro. Transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency are recognised at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are subsequently adjusted to the exchange rate 
in force at the end of the reporting period, and any exchange differences arising are reflected in the income statement. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and recognised at historical cost are translated 
using the exchange rate in force on the date the transaction is initially recognised. 
For consolidation purposes in the Group's accounts, the reporting packages of consolidated companies denominated in 
functional currencies other than the Euro are translated into Euro by applying the exchange rate in force at year-end 
to assets and liabilities, including goodwill and consolidation adjustments, and the average exchange rates for the 
financial year (if these approximate to the exchange rates in force at the date of the respective transactions) or for the 
period being consolidated, whichever is lower. The related exchange rate differences are recognised directly in the 
comprehensive income statement and reclassified in the income statement upon loss of control of the equity 
investment and, therefore, of its deconsolidation.  
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3.3 Amendments and new principles and interpretations 
 
New documents published by the IASB and endorsed by the EU that are mandatorily applicable starting with 
financial statements for financial years beginning on 01 January 2023. 
The accounting standards adopted for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 
2023 are the same as those used for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2022, 
with the exception of the new accounting standards and interpretations, approved by the IASB and endorsed for 
adoption in Europe, the adoption of which is mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2023, 
listed in the table below: 
 

  
* The document published by the IASB includes amendments to ‘IFRS Practice Statements 2 - Making Materiality Judgements’ that have not 
been endorsed by the European Union, as they do not relate to an accounting standard or interpretation. 

 
IAS/IFRS and related IFRIC interpretations applicable to financial statements for financial years beginning after 01 
January 2023 
Below are the EU-endorsed documents applicable to financial statements for financial years beginning after 01 January 
2023. 
 
PART A - Documents approved by the EU as at 31 December 2023 
 

  
The Group will adopt these new standards and amendments and is assessing their potential impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. These are amendments to standards and/or interpretations that are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements. 
Below are the international accounting standards, interpretations, amendments to existing accounting standards and 
interpretations, or specific provisions contained in the standards and interpretations approved by the IASB that have 
not yet been endorsed for adoption in Europe as at the date of these financial statements. It should be noted that these 
documents will only be applicable once they have been endorsed by the EU.  
 
PART B - Documents NOT yet approved by the EU as at 31 December 2023 
 

  
The Group will adopt these new standards and amendments based on their expected date of application, and it will 
assess their potential impact on the consolidated financial statements when they are endorsed by the European Union. 
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4. Information on the items of the statement of financial position 

 
Below are notes on the items of the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023. For details 
of the items of the consolidated statement of financial position deriving from transactions with related parties, 
reference to note 6.5 Transactions with related parties should be made. 
 
4.1 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 
 
The value of Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2023 is €108,109 thousand, an increase of €13,792 
thousand compared to 31 December 2022 (€94,317 thousand). 
 
The increases for the financial year relate to: 
 
• €3,690 thousand of the item Buildings and mainly referable for €1,298 thousand to construction works on buildings 

in Abano Terme and €2,108 thousand to the accounting standard IFRS 16 for the rights of use on property rental 
contracts of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries; 

• €3,091 thousand of the item Plant and equipment and industrial equipment, mainly referable for €1,963 thousand to 
investments made by the Parent Company in the production departments of Abano Terme; 

• €6,199 thousand of the item Other assets and mainly referable for €4,798 thousand to the effect of the accounting 
standard IFRS 16 for the rights of use of motor vehicles used by scientific representatives and other employees of the 
Group and for €1,108 thousand to investments in the Quality Control and Research and Development laboratories 
of Abano Terme; 

 
The item Assets in progress and advances, equal to €53,130 thousand (€52,498 thousand in 2022), mainly refers to the 
following investment orders of the Parent Company: production departments for €47,592 thousand, of which €42,517 
thousand relating to the production department vaccines (of which €2,077 thousand relating to capitalisation of 
internal labour and other costs functional to the commissioning of the department); adjustments and improvements to 
production departments; laboratories and factory for €3,391 thousand; advances on equipment for €1,554 thousand. 
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4.2 Intangible assets 

 

 
 
The value of intangible assets as at 31 December 2023 was €169,196 thousand, a decrease of €1,567 thousand 
compared to 31 December 2022 (€170,763 thousand). 
 
Industrial patents and intellectual property rights are represented by the external costs incurred in obtaining patent 
registrations from the competent authorities. Software usage rights refer to the costs incurred for the purchase of 
application software by way of user license. Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights are represented by 
costs incurred to register trademarks and acquire licenses for products from third parties for marketing purposes. 
 
The item Licences and Trademarks of €59,204 thousand mainly refers to the filing of trademarks and the acquisition of 
product licences from third parties for marketing.  
 
The item Assets under construction and advances, amounting to €15,420 thousand, mainly includes capitalisations 
made during the financial year in relation to the following investment orders of the Parent Company:  
 
• €674 thousand (€769 thousand in 2022) of costs relating to the process of registering patents and trademarks, 

incurred in the current period and in previous ones. These costs will be amortised from the time the patent 
registration is obtained or the trademark is filed; 

• €1,044 thousand (€940 thousand in 2022) of advances paid for the purchase of management software; 
• €9,894 thousand (€6,126 thousand in 2022) of external costs for activities related to development projects on phase 

3 products and trials for the creation of new formulations on medical devices (compliance with the new Regulation 
MDR 2017/745); 

• €3,808 thousand from capitalised costs related to projects in the operation area. Costs are split between external 
costs of €2,301 thousand and internal personnel costs of €1,507 thousand. 
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4.3 Goodwill 

 
Goodwill as at 31 December 2023 amounted to €90,827 thousand, an increase of €825 thousand compared to 31 
December 2022 (€90,002 thousand). The breakdown of Goodwill is shown in the table below: 
  

 
 
The change mainly refers to €829 thousand related to the acquisition of a business unit of the subsidiary Fidia Pharma 
Polska sp. z o.o. in January 2023.   
As indicated in the note on “Summary of accounting standards” and as provided for by IFRS 3, goodwill is not 
systematically amortised but subject to an impairment test to determine its recoverable amount. Goodwill is allocated 
to the individual cash generating units identified on the basis of the business segments and markets in which the 
acquired companies operate. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated must be tested for 
impairment annually. Whenever there is an indication that the unit may be impaired, by comparing the book value of 
the unit, which includes goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the unit: if the recoverable amount of a unit exceeds 
the book value of that particular unit, the unit and the goodwill allocated to that unit are treated as not impaired; if, on 
the other hand, the book value of the unit exceeds the recoverable amount of that particular unit, the entity should 
recognise the impairment loss. 
 
The impairment test exercise was conducted starting from the three-year multi-year plans drawn up by the 
management and, with reference to the financial variables, through the use of a cash flow discount rate (WACC) of 
72.50% for the Glynn Group, of 22.55% for Gruppo Sooft, of 19.90% for Laboratorios SLU, of 15.24% for corticosteroid 
products and of 17.60% for Polonia business branch Ophta. The discount rate used is represented by the weighted 
average cost of capital, estimated after tax, which reflects current market assessments of the cost of money and the 
specific risk associated with the cash-generating unit. The growth rates adopted for the period following the explicit 
forecast period have been conservatively estimated, taking into account the peculiarities of the various countries 
concerned. 
 
The recoverable amount was determined by calculating the value in use of the individual cash generating units. The 
main assumptions used in the calculation of value in use regard expectations of operating cash flows during the period 
assumed for the calculation, the discount rate and the growth rate. 
 
Operating cash flow forecasts for the explicit period assumed for the calculation (2024-2026) derive from the business 
plan approved by the Parent Company's Board of Directors on 18 October 2023. 
 
With regard to the recoverability of goodwill relating to the cash-generating units (CGUs) indicated above, impairment 
tests were carried out and no impairment losses were found in the financial years under review. 
 
The column “Stress test (WACC)” shows the discount rates above which the respective goodwill is written down. 
 
 
  



  

 

       

       

51 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2023 
REPORT ON OPERATIONS OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

4.4 Other investments and securities 

 
Equity investments and investments in other companies are summarised in detail in the tables below: 
 

 
 
The decrease of €399 thousand refers to the company Fidia Pharma Polska sp. z o.o. that became operative during the 
financial year and was therefore included in the consolidation area.  
 

 
 
Investments in other companies include equity instruments of unlisted companies, which fall within level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 
4.5 Receivables 
 
As at 31 December 2023, the item Non-current receivables amounted to €1,130 thousand, down €239 thousand 
compared to 31 December 2022 (€1,369 thousand).  
The item Receivables mainly refers to: 
 

• insurance policy for €552 thousand; 

• guarantee deposits for €533 thousand relating to utilities, rents and leases.  
 

See note 6 for information on the Group's exposure to credit and market risks and fair value. 
 
4.6 Deferred tax assets  
 
As at 31 December 2023, deferred tax assets amounted to €21,716 thousand (€25,377 thousand as at 31 December 
2022). The overall change is as follows: 
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The composition of deferred tax assets and liabilities is shown in the table below: 
 

 
 
Deferred tax assets decreased by a total of €3,661 thousand, mainly due to a reduction in values due to the recognition 
of fixed assets and the redemption of Sooft goodwill in 2022 (in the 2022 consolidated financial statements, the entire 
tax benefit from redemption was recognised in the amount of €9,084 thousand, net of the substitute tax (16%) in the 
amount of €5,210 thousand charged to the income statement; in subsequent years, the consolidated deferred tax 
assets decreased in accordance with the accounting records of the Parent Company). 
 
The accounting of deferred tax assets is supported by a recoverability plan prepared on the basis of assumptions and 
hypotheses that the Directors have considered as reasonable. 
 
With regard to the change of the item Deferred taxes, reference to note 4.17 should be made. 
 
4.7 Inventories 
 
Inventories as at 31 December 2023 amounted to €69,291 thousand (€54,113 thousand as at 31 December 2022), net 
of a bad debt provision of €7,678 thousand (amounting to €4,816 thousand as at 31 December 2022).  
 
The table below shows the breakdown of the item Inventories: 
 

 
 
Raw, ancillary and consumable materials consist of raw materials, excipients and packaging material used for the 
production of products for sale and for the production of active ingredients.  
 
The amount relating to inventories is prudentially written down through the recognition of a bad debt provision, 
designed to cover any future usability limits, obsolescence or slow turnover phenomena. 
 
The growth of raw materials has also been impacted, in part, by increased stock to compensate for the uncertainty in 
the availability of materials. 
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4.8 Trade receivables 

 
Trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 amounted to €126,629 thousand, up €27,587 thousand compared to 31 
December 2022 (€99,042 thousand). The values indicated are expressed net of the bad debt provision. 
  
The following table summarises the breakdown of the item Trade receivables and details of the bad debt provision:  
 

 
 
The Group carries out a detailed analysis of the positions with the highest recoverability risk, considering the 
relationship with the customer and the geo-political situation of the country in which the customer operates, and a 
generic analysis of historical and expected credit losses. Credit losses are estimated using a method based on the Vof 
credit risk, geographic area, credit seniority, presence of litigation and length of customer relationship. 
 
4.9 Tax receivables 
 
Tax receivables amounted to €3,597 thousand, down compared to 31 December 2022 (€7,582 thousand) of €3,985 
thousand. They are mainly represented at Group level by VAT credits for €1,342 thousand and tax credits for €747 
thousand derived from the Parent Company whose use is expected in 3 years by tax law (research and development). 
 
4.10 Other current assets 
 
Other current assets amounted to €11,488 thousand, up €1,742 thousand compared to 31 December 2022 (€9,747 
thousand) and relate to other receivables and accrued income and prepaid expenses. The following table provides a 
breakdown of this item.  
 

 
 
The change in other current assets for €1,742 thousand is mainly attributable to the increase in Advances to suppliers 
for goods for €2,588 thousand, partially offset by the decrease in Receivables from others for €474 thousand (which 
include advances to suppliers for services). 
 
4.11 Derivative instruments assessed at fair value 
 
The item derivative instruments assessed at fair value as at 31 December 2023 amounted to €3,610 thousand and 
refers to the positive fair value of hedging instruments (IRS) on medium/long-term loans as at 31 December 2023. 
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4.12 Short-term financial investments and cash and cash equivalents 

 
The composition of the item Cash and cash equivalents is summarised in the table below: 
 

 
 
Unrestricted financial assets are represented by unrestricted term loans that are remunerated with liquidity.  
 
4.13 Shareholders' equity 

 
Shareholders' equity attributable to the Group amounted to €294,392 thousand, up €38,113 thousand compared to 
2022 (€256,279).  
 
The main changes during the year, shown in detail in the statement of changes in shareholders' equity, concern: 
 
• recognition of the profit for FY 2023, equal to €46,955 thousand; 
• negative impact of the distribution of dividends to shareholders for €5,000 thousand; 
• negative impact of the translation reserve of accounts denominated in foreign currency, amounting to €1,024 

thousand; 
• negative impact from the fair value of hedging derivatives for a change of €2,529 thousand; 
• negative change due to change in the scope of consolidation for €224 thousand; 
• other positive changes amounting to €436 thousand. 
 

 
 
A more detailed description of the item Shareholders' equity is listed below. 
 
Share Capital 

The share capital as at 31 December 2023 amounted to €36,120 thousand. 
 
Reserve for derivative financial instruments assessed at fair value 

The cash flow hedge reserve includes the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of hedging 
instruments used in the cash flow hedge, pending subsequent recognition in net income/(loss) for the year, or included 
directly in the initial cost or other book value of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability. The value as at 31 
December 2023, net of the tax effect, was positive for €2,744 thousand. 
 
Translation reserve  

The translation reserve arises from the translation into Euro of the shareholders' equity of group companies whose 
financial statements are drawn up in a different local currency and it corresponds to the overall change in reserves due 
to purely exchange rate effects, recognised at year-end and compared with the historical one. The reserve decreased 
by €1,024 thousand due to an average depreciation of the Euro during the year against the currencies of the companies 
included in the consolidation. As at 31 December 2023, the reserve amounted to €1,539 thousand. 
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Other reserves 

As at 31 December 2023, these amounted to €7,980 thousand and include:  
• Legal reserve amounting to €7,224 thousand is unchanged compared to the previous year;  
• Treasury shares reserves in portfolio equal to €11,212 thousand did not change during the year; this item was 

recorded as part of the merger between Fidia Farmaceutici SpA and Solmag SpA, which took place in 2008;  
• Negative reserve for treasury shares in portfolio of €11,212 thousand; 
• Positive OCI reserve amounting to €254 thousand; 
• Reserve for unrealised exchange gains of €502 thousand. 
 
First-Time Adoption Reserve 

The reserve of €8,953 thousand originated as a result of the transition to the IFRS international accounting standards.  
 
The Group's objectives in managing capital are aimed at creating value for shareholders, safeguarding business 
continuity, guaranteeing the interests of stakeholders, as well as enabling efficient access to external sources of 
funding, such as to adequately support the development of the Group's activities. 
 

4.14 Loans due beyond one year 
 
As at 31 December 2023, loans due beyond the financial year amounted to €188,975 thousand with a net increase of 
€21,452 thousand compared to €167,523 thousand as at 31 December 2022. 
 

Conditions and repayment plans of the loans 

The following table shows the breakdown of medium- and long-term loans as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 
2022: 
 

 
 

* Variable at 50% as the residual portion is covered by IRS  

 
During the year, financing recorded: 
 
• an increase of €20,000 thousand related to the issue of a new bond loan to third parties underwritten on 15 March 

2023 with a duration until 2033, with deferred semi-annual instalments and maturing on 15 March and 15 September 
of each year and a pre-amortisation of the principal instalments of 36 months; 

• a decrease of €43,948 thousand related to the payment of principal amounts of outstanding mortgages; 
• an increase of €4,021 thousand related to other financing (mainly leasing and IFRS16). 
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Financial payables to third parties were recognised following the introduction of the IFRS 16 standards for a value of 
€9,084 thousand related to the lease commitments undertaken by the Group. 
The maturities of financial liabilities in terms of the nominal value of the expected outlay, as contractually defined, are 
described below: 
 

 
 
Derivative financial instruments 

As at 31 December 2023, these loans refer entirely to the Parent Company. In order to hedge the risk of fluctuations in 
interest rates, the Company has entered into Interest rate swap (IRS) transactions, whose original notional values are 
described in the table below and whose repayment schedules coincide with those of the underlying loans. As at 31 
December 2023, these transactions had a positive mark-to-market of €3,610 thousand before the tax effect. 
 
Hedging derivatives relating to items classified among financial liabilities are shown in the following table: 
 

 
 
Interest rate risk hedging transactions are classified as cash flow hedges in accordance with IFRS 9. 
The carrying value of hedging transactions falls within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
Please refer to paragraph 6.2 for a description of the company's exposure to liquidity risk. 
 
Loan covenants 

In view of the bank loans, the company is bound to comply with certain financial ratios to be calculated on the 
consolidated financial statements as follows: 
• ratio of net financial position to EBITDA not exceeding 3; 
• ratio of EBITDA to financial expenses not lower than 5. 
 
The parameters as at 31 December 2023 are met.  
 
Reconciliation of financial liabilities deriving from loans 

As required by IAS 7, the following table summarises the cash flows relating to financial liabilities and derivatives that 
occurred during the year: 
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Financial lease liabilities IFRS 16 

The following table illustrates the present value of the minimum payments for financial lease liabilities recorded as at 
31 December 2023 and 2022. 
 

 
 
Leases exempt from IFRS 16 relate to low-value leases (worth less than US$5 thousand) and leases with a contractual 
duration of less than 12 months. 
 
The table below shows the classes of financial instruments held by the Company. 
 

 
 

 
 
The Group only assessed derivative contracts at fair value. The value of amounts due to banks and other loans, 
recognised at amortised cost and contracted at variable interest rates, does not differ appreciably from their fair value. 
 
All financial instruments recognised at fair value can be classified into the three categories defined below: 
Level 1: Market quotation. 
Level 2: Valuation techniques (based on observable market data). 
Level 3: Valuation techniques (not based on observable market data). 
 
All assets and liabilities that are assessed at fair value as at 31 December 2023 are classified within fair value hierarchy 
level number 2. In addition, there were no transfers from Level 1 to Level 2 or Level 3 and vice versa during the year. 
 
  

thousands of Euros
Liabilities at 

amortized cost

Liabilities at fair 

value

Derivative 

instrument at fair 

value

Total

Financial liabilities:

Loans 244.073                            244.073                     

Provisions for risks and charges 6.146                                  6.146                           

Derivative instruments at fair v -                                        -                                       -                                  

Other non-current payables 0                                            0                                     

Trade payables 57.131                               57.131                        

Tax payables 11.916                               11.916                        

Other current liabilities 32.962                               32.962                        

Total Financial liabilities 352.228                            -                                     -                                       352.228                     
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Bonds 

The item "Loans due beyond one year" includes the value of bonds as shown in the table: 
 

 
 
Bonds refer to loans held by the Parent Company with the following characteristics: 
 

• 50,000 bonds of €1,000.00 each, maturity date 1 October 2023 - 30 September 2025 with interest payable 
semi-annually in arrears and maturing on 31 March and 30 September. 

• 200,000 bonds of €100 each, duration March 2023 - March 2033, recorded in the item bonds payable after 
12 months for a nominal amount of €20,000 thousand and €19,529 thousand net of implicit interest and 
accessory charges for €741 thousand. Repayment of the bond will begin in March 2029. 

 

Net financial position 

In order to complete the analysis of the Group's financial position, the following summary is also provided. 
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4.15 Employee severance indemnities and other benefits 

 
This item includes the actuarial value of the Group's actual debt to all employees determined by applying the criteria 
set forth in IAS 19 and amounted to €9,000 thousand as at 31 December 2023 (€9,118 thousand as at 31 December 
2022): 
 
The breakdown and the changes in payables for employee benefits are shown in the table below: 
 

 
 
Employee severance indemnities relate to the Italian companies of the Group and, on the basis of national legislation, 
they accrue on the basis of service rendered and are paid out when the employee leaves the company.  
 
The treatment due to the termination of the employment relationship is calculated based on its duration and on the 
taxable remuneration of each employee. The liability, annually revalued on the basis of the official cost of living and 
statutory interest rate, is not associated with any accrual condition or period, nor with any financial funding obligation; 
therefore, there is no activity at the service of the provision. 
 
The discipline was subsequently supplemented by Legislative Decree no. 252/2005 and by Law no. 296/2006 which, 
for companies with at least 50 employees, has established that the portions accrued since 2007 be allocated, on the 
employees’ option, either to the INPS Treasury Fund or to supplementary pension schemes, assuming the nature of 
“Defined contribution plan”. 
 
However, reassessments of amounts outstanding at the option date, as well as, for companies with less than 50 
employees, also those amounts accrued and not allocated to complementary pension funds, remain recorded as 
severance indemnities for the Parent Company. In accordance with IAS 19, this provision is accounted for as a “Defined 
benefit plan”. 
 
The tables below describe the financial and demographic assumptions adopted in calculating the liability in application 
of IAS 19: 
 

 
 
Lastly, the item Other employee benefits (€114 thousand) includes the allocation to actuarial value of the payable for a 
Long Term Incentive plan for certain senior managers, which provides for the payment of a three-year bonus upon 
achievement of certain economic goals set out in the three-year business plan. 
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4.16 Provision for risks and charges (non-current) 

 
The following table shows the breakdown of provisions for non-current risks and charges. 
 

 
 
The Provision for pensions and similar obligations represents the liability due for Agents' termination indemnities. The 
change relates to the allocation of the portion pertaining to the year, decreased by the settlement of fees. 
 
The Structural Provision decreased by €576 thousand due to maintenance interventions on the production complex. 
 
The Land Reversal Provision was set up during the 2014 financial year by reclassifying the depreciation of land included 
under depreciation provisions, in compliance with the provisions of OIC 16 which, in its new version, eliminated the 
provision that allowed the value of the land not to be separated from the buildings on which they stand when the value 
of the land coincides with the value of the site reversal/reclamation provision, on the assumption that separate 
recognition of the land and of the related provision provides a better representation to the reader of the financial 
statements. The provision underwent a decrease of €1,033 thousand during the year and is consequently shown in the 
financial statements at €150 thousand. This amount is deemed to reasonably represent the charge to be borne for 
future reclamation activities and is in line with the technical appraisal estimated by the Municipality of Abano in the 
resolution approving the project for the construction of the water treatment system for the car park in front of the 
Abano Terme facility. 
 
The item Other provisions for risks, the balance of which represents the valuation of risks arising from disputes with third 
parties, shows a net utilisation of €243 thousand mainly related to a settlement of a legal dispute of the Parent 
Company.  
 
The provision considers for €1,700 thousand the contingent liability deriving from the legislation relating to the 
payback on medical devices pursuant to art. 9-ter of DL 19 June 2015 No.78 converted into Law 125/2015. During 
2022, the implementing decrees were issued with the publication, in the O.J. on 15/09/2022, of the decree of the 
Ministry of Health and the Mef certifying the exceeding of the expenditure ceiling for medical devices for the years 
2015-2018. Following this decree, the regions issued the relevant measures with which the supplier companies were 
notified of the amounts to be paid for the expenditure overruns, for the years 2015-2018. The parent company 
challenged the measure, on the basis of an initiative coordinated by several companies in the sector, by appealing to the 
Regional Court (TAR) of Lazio, which on 24/11/2023, issued an order remanding to the Constitutional Court the 
questions of the constitutionality of the payback regulation, noting that "the legislative choices could be unreasonable 
in many respects". The Constitutional Court hearing is scheduled for 22 May 2024. 
As at 31/12/2022, an estimate of the contingent liability arising from the possible application of these provisions was 
already set aside, not only for the 2015-2018 period, but also for the subsequent years 2019-2022. As at 31/12/2023, 
the amount was recalculated by adding the new annuity and on the basis of the new criteria set out in DL 34/2023 (VAT 
unbundling on all annuities). 
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4.17 Deferred tax liabilities 

 
As at 31 December 2023, deferred taxes amounted to €1,407 thousand, down €2,506 thousand compared to 31 
December 2022 (€3,913 thousand).  
The provision for deferred taxes underwent the following changes during the year:  
• decrease of €799 thousand in the Parent Company due to the decrease in active hedging instruments; 
• decrease of €1,619 thousand following the adjustment in the consolidated financial statements of deferred taxes 

calculated on goodwill of previous years; 
• other net decreases amounting to €88 thousand.  
 
The provision in place at year-end refers to the recognition of deferred taxes on other income components that have 
been recognised in this Income Statement or in that of previous financial years on an accrual basis in fiscal years 
subsequent to the recognition of deferred taxes. 
 
4.18 Derivative instruments assessed at (non-current) fair value 
 
As at 31 December 2023, there are no derivative instruments measured at fair value among non-current liabilities. 
 
4.19 Other non-current payables 
 
As at 31 December 2023, there were no other payables recognised under non-current liabilities. 
 
4.20 Trade payables 
 
Trade payables, entirely of a commercial nature and including year-end provisions for invoices to be received, 
amounted to €57,131 thousand as at 31 December 2023 (€64,020 thousand in 2022). The decrease is related to a slight 
decrease in the average duration of payments due to improved conditions. 
 
The table below provides a breakdown of trade payables as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. 
 

 
 
4.21 Tax payables 
 
As at 31 December 2023, tax payables amounted to €11,916 thousand (€5,568 thousand as at 31 December 2022) and 
mainly include tax payables, net of advances paid, determined by the companies on the basis of taxable income, and 
payables to the tax authorities as withholding agent. 
It should also be noted that the item includes taxes and penalties relating to previous years, as the Parent Company 
received an invitation from the Venice Revenue Agency for assessment with adhesion pursuant to Article 5-ter of 
Legislative Decree 218/1997, for the tax year 2017. The management, while not agreeing with the findings made by 
the tax authorities, believed that the agreement reached with the adhesion signed on 21 March 2024 allowed the 
company to avoid a protracted tax litigation with unpredictable outcomes and, above all, to see its defensive line, set 
out during the cross-examination, confirmed, resulting in the almost complete elimination of the findings made during 
the audit by the tax authorities. 
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4.22 Other current liabilities 

 
As at 31 December 2023, other current liabilities amounted to €32,962 thousand, an increase of €1,976 thousand 
compared to 31 December 2022 (€30,986 thousand), mainly due to the increase in payables to social security 
institutions and other payables. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of other current liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022. 
 

 
 
Other payables mainly include payables to personnel and the Board of Directors. 
 
4.23 Provisions for risks and charges 
 
As at 31 December 2023, provisions for risks and charges amounted to €1,700 thousand and relate to the allocation of 
the Assinde Provision, which represents the risk deriving from returns relating to sales in 2023 that are estimated to 
be collected in 2024 by Assinde itself, and that will be charged in that period, based on the Return Policy agreement. 
 
Changes in provisions for current risks and charges are shown in the following table. 
 

 
 
4.24 Derivative instruments assessed at (current) fair value 
 
As at 31 December 2023, there are no current derivative instruments. Please refer to note 4.18 for a breakdown of 
non-current derivative instruments.  
 
The fair value of these hedging derivatives is measured at level 2 of the hierarchy provided for in IFRS 13 (see note 2). 
Fair value is equal to the present value of estimated future cash flows. Estimates of future variable rate cash flows are 
based on quoted swap rates, futures prices and interbank rates. Estimated cash flows are discounted using a yield curve, 
which reflects the benchmark interbank rate applied by market participants to value interest rate swaps. 
 
4.25 Loans due within one year 
 
The value of the loans due within the year as at 31 December 2023 is equal to €55,098 thousand and includes the short-
term share of bank loans described in section 4.14.  
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4.26 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

 
As provided for by IFRS 7, the comparison between the value posted to the financial statements as at 31 December 
2023 and the related fair value of financial assets and liabilities is presented: 
 

 
 
5. Information on the items in the consolidated income statement 
 
The main balances of the 2023 consolidated income statement are analysed below. Details of the balances of items in 
the consolidated income statement deriving from transactions with related parties are provided in the Report on 
Operations. 
 
5.1  Revenues and other income 
 
The Group's revenues derive from contracts with customers and are broken down as follows: 
 

 
 
Revenues from products and services include the sale of drugs, medical devices and active ingredients, as well as income 
from third-party activities (CMO) for the production of vaccines.  
 
Other revenues include: 
 
• contractual penalties to customers for €1,965 thousand; 
• contingent assets for €1,642 thousand;  
• PON (national operational programme) and Mise contributions for €1,347 thousand; 
• energy and gas tax credit for €771 thousand;  
• R&D tax credit for €656 thousand; 
• revenues for revaluations and fees for €535 thousand; 
• revenues for the licence to use the trademark for €500 thousand; 
• tax credit for capital goods investments for €97 thousand; 
• other revenues for €1,790 thousand.  
 
A breakdown of revenues by geographical macro-area is provided in the relevant section of the Report on Operations. 
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5.2  Operating costs 

 
Operating costs in 2023 totalled €397,080 thousand, an increase of €36,674 thousand compared to 2022 (€360,406 
thousand). Below is the classification of costs by purpose for fiscal years 2023 and 2022. 
 

 
 
The cost of sales amounted to €176,751 thousand, with a margin of 38.1% of revenue, compared to 37.7% in 2022. 
 
Selling expenses amounted to 141,225 thousand or 30.5% of revenue, up 7.5% year-on-year in line with the increase in 
turnover. 
 
Research and development expenses amounted to €26,208 thousand, with an incidence on revenues of 5.7%, compared 
to 6.3% in 2022. 
 
As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative expenses amounted to €54,879 thousand, an increase of 
14.2%, from 11.7% to 11.8%. 
 
Other net charges/(income) amounted to €(1,983) thousand and primarily referred to the following items of the 
Parent Company: 
 

• capitalisation of personnel costs and internal costs for €(2,559) thousand, related to projects in the area of 
operations; 

• various taxes and duties for €309 thousand; 

• sundry non-deductible charges for €67 thousand;  

• contractual penalties for €175 thousand.  
 
The following table shows operating costs classified by nature. 
 

 
 
The most significant changes in the costs for raw materials, goods and third-party processing are mainly attributable to 
the increase in sales volumes. 
 
Service costs (€139,932 thousand) mainly refer to third-party processing of semi-finished or packaged products 
(€40,845 thousand), technical, marketing, legal and administrative consultancy services (€22,676 thousand), external 
research consultancy (€8,038 thousand), transport costs (€15,908 thousand), advertising and representation activities 
(€23,926 thousand). The residual value of service costs also refers to plant maintenance, fees to third-party 
collaborators, travel expenses and employee training, fees to directors and statutory auditors (for which reference to 
note 6.8 should be made) and commissions to agents.  
The increase in labour costs (€5,665 thousand) is mainly related to the increase in the number of employees, and to the 
usual salary dynamics and bonus policies. 
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A breakdown of the Group's workforce as at 31 December is provided below: 
 

 
 
The depreciation, amortisation and write-downs for the financial year, amounting to €23,991 thousand, includes: 
 

• amortisation and depreciation amounting to €23,146, related to €11,953 thousand for tangible assets, of which 
€3,486 thousand refer to the amortisation of assets for rights of use as per IFRS 16, and the remainder, €11,193 
thousand, to intangible assets; 

• write-downs amounting to €845 thousand, of which €88 thousand related to the write-down of tangible assets 
and €757 thousand referred to the write-down of trade receivables mentioned in note 4.8.  

 
5.3  Net financial income and expenses 
 
Net financial expenses/(income) in 2023 amounted to €4,350 thousand with a positive balance of €640 thousand 
compared to 2022.  
 
The main items making up the balance are summarised in the following table: 
 

 
 
The item Other financial income of €2,987 thousand mainly includes interest on current account time deposits. 
 
Other financial expenses of €6,725 thousand mainly include €3,805 thousand of interest on bank loans (net of the 
positive effect of hedging derivatives) and €2,636 thousand of interest on bonds.  
 
There was no revaluation of class 3 policies written down in previous years.  
 
5.4  Taxes 
 
Taxes amounted to €16,836 thousand and included the income taxes of all the Group's consolidated companies, as well 
as the regional tax on productive activities foreseen for the Parent Company (IRAP).  
 
Taxes as a percentage of pre-tax profit amounted to -27.1% compared to -18.95% in the previous year, and took into 
account the benefit from the accounting of the effects of the 'new' Patent Box (referring to IRES and IRAP of 2022) in 
the amount of €2,188 thousand and the reversal of the Deferred Tax Provision in the amount of €1,619 thousand 
accounted for in previous years. 
 
A breakdown of the taxes for the financial year is provided below: 
 
Net current taxes for €14,009 thousand, broken down as follows: 
 

• €11,556 thousand for IRES due for FY 2023; 
• €2,275 thousand for IRAP due for FY 2023; 
• €2,389 thousand for other current taxes relating to subsidiaries; 
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• €(2,210) thousand (with a positive effect on the income statement) relating to adjustments of taxes from 
previous years (mainly new Patent Box €(2,188) thousand, reversal of deferred tax provision €(1,619) 
thousand and adjustment for assessment with adhesion for 2017 for €1,476 thousand). 

 
Deferred and tax assets and liabilities for €2,826 thousand with negative balance, broken down as follows:  
 

• €2,775 thousand of deferred taxes relating to the revaluation and difference in the statutory value of fixed 
assets; 

• €960 thousand of deferred taxes related to the reversal of intercompany inventory margin; 
• €310 thousand of deferred taxes related to the redemption of goodwill arising from the merger of Sooft S.p.A. 

into Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A; 
• €(834) thousand (with positive effect) of deferred taxes on the reversal of assets sold within the Group; 
• €(385) thousand (with positive effect) of deferred taxes related to other items (mainly local gaap). 

 
 
The table below distinguishes between current and deferred taxes for 2023 and 2022. 
 

 
 
The table below shows a reconciliation between the corporate income tax rate in force in Italy and the effective 
consolidated tax rate. 
 

 
 
6 Other information 
 
6.1 Information on financial risks 
 
The Group constantly monitors the financial risks to which it is exposed, in order to take immediate action to mitigate 
their effects.  
 
As provided for in IFRS 7, information on the main financial risks to which the Group is exposed is given below. 
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Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk relates to potential losses as a result of the inability of commercial counterparties to meet their obligations.  
 
The Group mainly operates with private customers, represented by pharmacies, medical clinics, opticians, wholesalers 
and distributors, but also with large industrial groups, as well as with the Public Administration (hospital sector).  
 
The group carefully monitors its credit exposure through an internal reporting system, in order to contain potential 
losses. Each Group company handles credit recovery on the sales made in their respective markets. Coordination 
between the companies that operate on the same market is based on the electronic exchange of information on 
common customers and on the coordination of any halts on deliveries or commencement of legal actions.  
 
The bad debt provision is the nominal amount due, less any receivables secured by bank guarantees, if any. The 
recoverability of all guarantees shall be evaluated critically. The provision is based on the individual analysis of overdue 
amounts, of the customers known to have financial difficulties and of those receivables for which legal action has 
commenced. A generic analysis based on historical losses is also carried out.  
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
It is related to the possibility of having insufficient liquidity to manage the Group’s normal operations. The group closely 
monitors this risk on the basis of thorough weekly financial reporting on its net financial position. 
 
The Group’s gross indebtedness with the banking system is about 89%, comprised of fixed-rate debt with an average 
term of approximately 3 years. Any excess liquidity, i.e. liquidity in excess of free cash flow requirements, is invested in 
working capital securities, as described in greater detail in the notes to the financial statements, to which reference 
should be made. For this reason, part of the liquidity is subject to the risk arising from the market valuation of the 
underlying securities. 
 
As required by IFRS 7, the following table shows the cash flows related to the Group's financial liabilities by maturity: 
 

 
 
In order to provide a better understanding of the outstanding debt, the change in cash flow of bank loans as a result of 
changes in Euribor is reported below: 
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Price Risk 

 
The Group sells products reimbursed by the National Health System and other (OTC) non-reimbursable products.  
 
The first group of products is a major public spending item for countries, exposing the Group to uncontrollable external 
risks, such as changes to the products covered by the National Health Service, the removal or reduction of coverage, 
the expenditure payback mechanism and patent expirations with the consequent introduction of generic drugs. 
 
The second group of products is more influenced by macroeconomic factors, such as inflation and interest rate trends, 
which could impact the spending capacity of consumers. 
 
In order to avoid these risks, the sales department closely monitors the group’s markets, analysing their trends and 
possible developments. 
 
Currency Risk 
 
Since it sells its products in various countries, the Group is exposed to risks arising from exchange rate fluctuations. 
Currency risk mainly relates to sales transactions in US Dollar and Russian Ruble. The group’s treasury unit closely 
monitors exchange rate trends, carrying out Euro translation transactions to reduce the translation risk. 
 
The Parent Company also holds equity investments in companies whose share capital is denominated in currencies 
other than the Euro. Changes in net equity arising from exchange rate fluctuations are recognised in a “translation 
reserve” under net equity. The risk arising from the translation of net equity is not currently hedged. 
The following table shows a sensitivity analysis of the risk arising from the translation of receivables and payables as at 
31 December 2023 in USD and RUB of the Group companies, for exchange rate changes in the range of +/- 10% 
compared to the year-end exchange rate and with the conversion to the exchange rate as at 29 February 2024: 
 

 
 

 
 
Risks of changes in the pharmaceutical legislative and regulatory framework 
 
The pharmaceutical sector is highly regulated both nationally and internationally, thereby affecting activities at all 
levels. In order to reduce its dependence on the decisions of the individual national governments in terms of 
pharmaceutical expenditure, the Group pursues a strategy of diversifying and expanding its sales in various geographic 
areas. The pharmaceutical sector is also subject to national and international technical regulations governing how 
pharmaceutical research, development, production, distribution, and reporting are carried out. By policy, the Group 
constantly monitors regulatory developments in all the markets in which it operates through internal and external 
organisational structures. 
 
6.2 Change in the scope of consolidation 
 
Fidia Pharma Polska sp. z o.o., a wholly-owned subsidiary established in 2022, was consolidated in this financial year. 
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6.3 Guarantees 

 
Guarantees amounting to €606 thousand were granted in favour of third parties and refer to: 
• guarantees to the credit system issued in favour of third parties in the amount of €346 thousand; 
• insurance surety policies issued by Assicuratrice Milanese in favour of the Province of Padua for “temporary storage 

of special waste” for €260 thousand.  
 
Third-party assets held by the Company amounted to €2,794 thousand and refer to goods on consignment, loan for use 
and deposit for €1,820 thousand, to third-party goods under processing for €873 thousand and to goods on loan for 
€101 thousand.     
Commitments refer to residual rents relating to property purchased under financial leases for €887 thousand.  
 
6.4 Disputes and contingent liabilities 
 
Based on an analysis of contracts and litigation underway as of the date of preparation of these financial statements, 
no circumstances were noted that would indicate the need for provisions for contingent liabilities significantly different 
from those disclosed in these financial statements. 
 
6.5 Transactions with related parties 

 
The Group's direct Parent Company is P&R Farmaceutici S.p.A., which is owned by Fiore Farmaceutici Holding S.r.l., 
based in Rodano (MI).  
 
There are no credit and debit transactions with the Parent Company. 
 
In compliance with the disclosure requirements established by art. 38 of Legislative Decree no. 127/91, it should be 
noted that the total fees due to the Parent Company's Directors and Statutory Auditors for carrying out their specific 
duties, including in other Group companies, in 2023, amounted respectively to €6,018 thousand and €105 thousand.  
 
Except as indicated above, to the best of our knowledge, there have been no transactions or contracts with related 
parties which, with reference to the materiality of the effects on the financial statements, could be considered 
significant in terms of value or conditions. 
 
The following table shows a breakdown of receivables and payables due to and from the Parent Company in relation to 
Group Companies as at 31 December 2023. 
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The following table shows a breakdown of the Parent Company's revenues and costs relating to Group Companies as 
at 31 December 2023. 
 

 
 
6.6 Subsequent events 

 
There were no events occurring after the end of the financial year that would have a significant impact on these 
combined financial statements. For further information, reference to the report on operations should be made. 
 
6.7 Fees paid to Directors, Auditors and Independent Auditors 
 
In accordance with the law, the total fees due to the Directors, to the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors and 
to the Independent Auditors are shown. 
 

 
 

These Notes form an integral part of the Group's consolidated financial statements, and the accounting information 
contained therein corresponds to the accounts of the companies included in the basis of consolidation as they stand 
after combination, eliminations and adjustments. 
 
With regard to the nature of the companies' activities, significant events and outlook, reference to the consolidated 
Report on Operations should be made. 
 
 
 
 
 
Abano Terme, 27 March 2024 
For the Board of Directors 
The Chairman 
Carlo Pizzocaro 
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(This independent auditors’ report has been translated into English solely for the convenience of 
international readers. Accordingly, only the original Italian version is authoritative.) 

Independent auditors’ report pursuant to article 14 of Legislative 
decree no. 39 of 27 January 2010  

To the shareholders of 
Fidia Farmaceutici S.p.A. 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements  

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Fidia Farmaceutici Group (the “group”), 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the income statement and 
the statements of other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended and notes thereto, which include material information on the accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Fidia Farmaceutici Group as at 31 December 2023 and of its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by 
the European Union. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are independent of the parent in 
accordance with the ethics and independence rules and standards applicable in Italy to audits of financial 
statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of the parent’s directors and board of statutory auditors (“Collegio 
Sindacale”) for the consolidated financial statements  

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the European 
Union and, within the terms established by the Italian law, for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
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Fidia Farmaceutici Group 

Independent auditors’ report 

31 December 2023 

 

The directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going concern and for the 
appropriate use of the going concern basis in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and for the adequacy of the related disclosures. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless 
the directors believe that the conditions for liquidating the parent or ceasing operations exist, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Collegio Sindacale is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by the Italian law, the 
group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA Italia will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA Italia, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control; 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the group’s internal control;  

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors; 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group to cease 
to continue as a going concern; 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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Fidia Farmaceutici Group 

Independent auditors’ report 

31 December 2023 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at the appropriate level required by ISA 
Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinion pursuant to article 14.2.e) of Legislative decree no. 39/10  

The parent’s directors are responsible for the preparation of the group’s directors’ report at 31 December 
2023 and for the consistency of such report with the related consolidated financial statements and its 
compliance with the applicable law. 

We have performed the procedures required by Standard on Auditing (SA Italia) 720B in order to express 
an opinion on the consistency of the directors’ report with the group’s consolidated financial statements 
at 31 December 2023 and its compliance with the applicable law and to state whether we have identified 
material misstatements. 

In our opinion, the directors’ report is consistent with the group’s consolidated financial statements at 31 
December 2023 and has been prepared in compliance with the applicable law. 

With reference to the above statement required by article 14.2.e) of Legislative decree no. 39/10, based 
on our knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained through our audit, we 
have nothing to report.  

Padua, 9 April 2024 

KPMG S.p.A. 

(signed on the original) 

Silvia Di Francesco 
Director of Audit 
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